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Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna Spa

Via Triumvirato, 84 - 40132 Bologna Italy

Bologna Economic and Administrative Register No.: 268716

Bologna Company Registration Office, Tax and VAT No.: 03145140376
Share capital: Euro 90,314,162.00 fully paid-in

Introduction

The Consolidated Half-Year Financial Report at June 30, 2024 (hereafter also the “Half-Year Report”) was
drawn up as per Legislative Decree No. 58/1998 and subsequent amendments, in addition to Consob’s
Issuers’ Regulation.

The Half-Year Report comprises the Directors’ Report, which presents the Directors’ observations on the
operating performance and the business outlook in the first half of 2024, and the Condensed Consolidated
Half-Year Financial Statements.

Ownership of the Parent Company Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A.

According to the Shareholder Register and the notices received pursuant to Article 120 of Legislative Decree
No. 58/98, the shareholders of the Parent Company Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna Spa (hereafter
also the “Parent Company” or “AdB”), with holdings of more than 5% were as follows at June 30, 2024:

SHAREHOLDER % Held

BOLOGNA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 39.10%
MUNDYS S.P.A. (EDIZIONE S.R.L.) 29.38%
F21 FONDI ITALIANI PER LE INFRASTRUTTURE SGR SPA 9.99%

The following have been considered in presenting the Parent Company's ownership structure:

- Interests held by the party reporting the holding, or by the party at the head of the chain of control of the
holding

- Interests deriving from notices submitted by shareholders or notices relating to significant shareholdings
pursuant to Article 152 of the CONSOB iIssuers’ Regulation.
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Furthermore, on August 1, 2024, the Shareholder Agreement signed on August 2, 2021 between the Bologna
Chamber of Commerce, the Municipality of Bologna, the Metropolitan City of Bologna, the Region of Emilia-
Romagna, the Modena, Ferrara and Ravenna Chamber of Commerce (formerly the Ferrara Chamber of
Commerce) and the Emilia Chamber of Commerce (formerly the Reggia Emilia and Parma Chamber of
Commerce) governing certain rights and obligations in respect of the shareholder structure and corporate
governance of Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. was dissolved on its expiration. The
Shareholder Agreement represented a voting syndicate {“Voting Agreement”) and a transfer restriction
agreement (“Transfer Restriction Agreement”) relevant under Article 122, paragraphs 1 and 5(a) and (b) of
the CFA.

The table below presents the percentage holding of each Public Shareholder pursuant to the Shareholder
Agreement, which, as described above, concluded on August 1, 2024. The table also details the number of
voting rights - granted by the shares corresponding to the share capital percentage held by each member -
that were fully conferred to a voting agreement (the “Voting Agreement”).

% of shares No. of votes
% share
] ] allocated to the allocated to the
Public shareholders capital of ) )
AdB* Voting Voting

Agreement* Agreement
Bologna Chamber Of Commerce 39.10 81.26 14,124,377
Municipality of Bologna 3.88 8.06 1,400,590
Metropolitan City of Bologna 2.31 4.81 836,201
Region of Emilia-Romagna 2.04 4.23 735,655
Modena Chamber of Commerce 0.30 0.62 107,637
Ferrara Chamber of Commerce 0.22 0.47 80,827
Reggio Emilia Chamber of Commerce 0.15 0.32 55,115
Parma Chamber of Commerce 0.11 0.23 40,568
Total 48.11 100.00 17,380,970 |

* Percentages rounded to the second decimal place

The table below details the share capital percentage and the number of voting rights attached to the
Company’s shares conferred to the transfer restriction agreement (the “Transfer Restriction Agreement”)
by the members of the Shareholder Agreement which, as described above, concluded on August 1, 2024.

% of shares No. of voting
% blocked allocated to | rights conferred
Public shareholders shares of AdB's | the Transfer to the Transfer
share capital* Restriction Restriction
Agreement** Agreement
Bologna Chamber Of Commerce 37.5325326 81.74 13,558,877

== === T = - == = e
Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A.

5

This document is a courtesy translation from italian into English. In case of any inconsistency between the two versions, the Italian original version shall prevail.




Municipality of Bologna 3.8477737 8.38 1,390,034
Metropolitan City of Bologna 2.2972543 5.00 829,898
Region of Emilia-Romagna 2.0210297 4.40 730,110
Modena Chamber of Commerce 0.0835370 0.18 30,178
Ferrara Chamber of Commerce 0.0627298 0.14 22,662
Reggio Emilia Chamber of Commerce 0.0427747 0.09 15,453
Parma Chamber of Commerce 0.0314848 0.07 11,374
Total 45.9191166 100 16,588,586

* Percentages rounded to the seventh decimal place

** Percentages rounded to the second decimal place

As outlined in the 2023 Financial Statements:

on June 22, 2023, the Issuer was informed of the merger between the Ferrara Chamber of
Commerce and the Ravenna Chamber of Commerce (a non-sharehoider entity and therefore
not a party to the Shareholder Agreement), forming a single entity under the name of the
Ferrara and Ravenna Chamber of Commerce. This therefore assumed the same rights and
obligations in the Shareholder Agreement as were previously held by the Ferrara Chamber of
Commerce;

on July 18, 2023, the Issuer was informed of the merger between the Reggio Emilia Chamber
of Commerce, the Parma Chamber of Commerce and the Piacenza Chamber of Commerce (a
non-shareholder entity and therefore not a party to the Shareholder Agreement), forming a
single entity under the name of the Emilia Chamber of Commerce. This therefore assumed the
same rights and obligations in the Shareholder Agreement as were previously held by the
Reggio Emilia Chamber of Commerce and the Parma Chamber of Commerce.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors, appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 26, 2022 and in office until the
approval date of the financial statements as at December 31, 2024 are:

Name Office

Enrico Postacchini Chairperson

Nazareno Ventola Chief Executive Officer (*)
Elena Leti Director (B)

Giada Grandi Director (A)

Claudia Bugno Director (**)

Valerio Veronesi Director

Alessio Montrella Director

Giovanni Cavallaro Director (A) (B)

Laura Pascotto Director (A) (B)

(*) Chief Executive Officer and General Manager. He has also been appointed as Director responsible for the Internal
Control and Risk Management System.
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(**) On February 28, 2024, board member Sonia Bonfiglioli resigned with irrevocable effect. On March 14, 2024, the
Board of Directors therefare resolved, with the Board of Statutory Auditors' approval and in accordance with Article
2386 of the Italian Civil Code, to co-opt Claudia Bugno to replace the outgoing independent director Sonia Bonfiglioli.

(A) Member of the Remuneration Committee (Chairperson Giovanni Cavallaro, appointed to the Remuneration
Committee and named Chairperson by resolution of the board on March 6, 2024, to replace the outgoing Sonia
Bonfiglioli)

(B) Member of the Control, Risks and Sustainability Committee (Chairperson Laura Pascotto)

Board of Statutory Auditors

The Board of Statutory Auditors, appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 26, 2022 and in office until
the approval date of the financial statements as at December 31, 2024 are:

Name Office

Rosalba Cotroneo Chairperson
Francesca Aielli Statutory Auditor
Alessandro Bonura Statutory Auditor
Sergio Graziosi Alternate Auditor
Alessia Bastiani Alternate Auditor
Auditing Firm

With the approval of the 2023 Financial Statements by the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2024, the nine-
year engagement of the auditing firm EY SpA concluded. The Auditing Firm appointed by the above
Shareholders’ Meeting for the years 2024-2032 from this consolidated half-year financial report is
PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA.

e ———————————————————————————————— e e——
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Directors’ Report of Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna Spa
Group at June 30, 2024
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INTRODUCTION

Dear Shareholders,

this report, accompanying the Condensed Consolidated Half-Year Financial Statements of the Aeroporto
Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna Group (hereinafter also the “Aeroporto Group” or “Aeroporto”) for the six
months ended June 30, 2024, in presenting the Group's performance indirectly analyses also the
performance of the Parent Company, Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna Spa., the holder of the
concession for the full management of Bologna Airport, i.e. Full Management Concession No. 98 of July 12,
2004 and subsequent Additional Deeds, approved by Decree of the Ministry of Transport and Infrastructure
and of the Economy and Finance of March 15, 2006, with a term of 40 years starting on December 28, 2004.
Given the drastic drop in traffic at Italy’s airports due to COVID-19, Article 102, Paragraph 1-bis of Decree-
Law No. 34 of May 19 (Relaunch Decree), converted into Law No. 77 of July 17, 2020, extended the duration
of airport concessions by two years in order to cushion the consequent economic blow. Given the direct
applicability of the above law, Bologna Airport’s concession is extended to December 2046.

The Group's structure at June 30, 2024 and a brief description of the type and businesses of its subsidiaries
and associates is presented below:

v

Aeroporto di Bologna

Aeroporto G. Marconi
di Bologna S.p.A.

Fast Freight Marconi

S.pA. TAG Bologna S.r..

100% 100%

- Tag Bologna S.r.l. (hereinafter also “TAG”), formed in 2001 and operational since 2008, following the
completion and opening of the General Aviation Terminal and hangar. In addition to managing the above
infrastructure at Bologna airport, the company operates as a handler in the General Aviation sector. The
Parent Company on October 2, 2018, taking the opportunity to better control the dedicated airside flight
infrastructure, acquired 49% of TAG to gain full ownership;

- Fast Freight Marconi Spa (hereinafter also “FFM”), formed in 2008 by the former subsidiary Marconi
Handling S.r.l. {(GH Bologna Spa with effect from April 1, 2017), following the contribution of a cargo and
mail handling business unit based out of Bologna airport. The Parent Company acquired a 100% interest
in FFM in 2009.
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The amounts in the tables in this Directors’ Report are in thousands of Euro, whereas those in the comments
are in millions of Euro, unless otherwise indicated. The data is from internal Parent Company sources unless
otherwise indicated.

Business Description

Airport business may be divided into aviation and non-aviation activities. Aviation activities primarily consist
of managing, maintaining and developing airports, which also includes security checks and surveillance, as
well as aviation services for passengers, other users and airport operators and marketing activities to develop
passenger and cargo traffic. Non-aviation activities primarily consist of developing airport real estate and
commercial potential.

Based on the nature of operations, the Group manages the airport through the following Strategic Business
Units (SBU’s):

- Aviation Strategic Business Unit
- Non-Aviation Strategic Business Unit.

Aviation SBU

The Aviation SBU's main activities involve managing and developing airport infrastructure and in particular

of:

- providing customers and operators with efficient access to all infrastructure, both land side (terminal,
baggage sorting, car parking, traffic and cargo storage) and air side (aircraft runways and aprons);

- providing security services and services for passengers with reduced mobility (PRM’s);

- informing the public and airport users;

- developing, revamping and expanding airport infrastructure, including installations and equipment,
ensuring compliance with applicable legisiation.

Consideration for such services takes the form of airport charges of the following types paid by airlines,
airport operators and passengers, which the managing company collects from the carriers and the airport
operators:

- passenger service fees: these fees are due for the use of infrastructure, installations and common areas
required for passenger boarding, disembarkation and hospitality and are based on the number of
departing passengers, as well as whether they are bound for destinations within or outside the EU, with
reductions for minors;

- take-off and landing fees: these fees are due for all aircraft that take off and land and are calculated on
the basis of the aircraft's maximum authorised weight at take-off and the type of flight (commercial or
general aviation);

- aircraft parking fees, calculated according to maximum weight at take-off and the duration of stay;

- cargo fees based on the weight of the cargo carried by aircraft;

- refuelling fees, assessed per cubic metre of fuel supplied to aircraft.

The Aviation SBU's other major revenue sources are:

- departing passenger security fees: these fees are due for providing security check services, including the
personnel and equipment used by the manager to provide this service;

- checked baggage security fees: these fees are due for the equipment and personnel responsible for
performing such checks;

- PRM fees: they include the fees paid for services for passengers with reduced mobility and are based on
the number of departing passengers (PRM and otherwise);
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- fees for the exclusive use of premises: they include fees for using airport infrastructure dedicated to
individual carriers or operators (check-in desks, offices, operating premises), calculated according to the
duration of use, floor area and/or location and type of the premises used;

- centralised infrastructure fees: these fees refer solely to aircraft de-icing services and are based on the
number of winter flights;

- cargo handling and general aviation fees and fees due for the related activities such as customs clearance
and refuelling.

Non-Aviation SBU
The Non-Aviation SBU’s main activities relate to parking management, retail sub-concessions, advertising,
services for passengers and real estate management.

Parking

Bologna airport's directly operated paid parking areas offer approximately 4,700 car parking spaces, located
in three parking areas: the first close to the terminal, the second close to airport grounds and the third located
at approx. 1.5 KM away.

Retail

Bologna airport’s retail offerings include internationally recognised brands and iconic brands/labels with local
ties, offering a unique and distinctive shopping experience. The shopping area extends over approximately
4,000 m? and includes 34 shops. However, major modernisation works are currently underway in the
Schengen departure lounge, which is impacting certain retail outlets and leading to a reduction in the
commercial offering (2 shops temporarily remain closed).

Advertising

Advertising is managed using digital and large-format back-lit displays located in areas of the terminal's
interior and exterior where the advertisements are highly visible. Campaigns involving the personalisation of
particular areas or furnishings located in the airport are sometimes conducted.

Passenger services

Passenger services include a business lounge operated directly by the Parent Company. The Marconi Business
Lounge (MBL) is an exclusive, comfortable environment used mostly by business passengers travelling with
the major legacy carriers. The “You First” service provides arriving and departing passengers with access to
exclusive services such as check-in and baggage collection assistance, porterage, gate assistance and priority
boarding.

Among the other services offered to passengers is car hire: 12 rental companies offer a total of 19 specialised
brands, with a total of 483 vehicle spaces available for their fleets.

Real Estate

Real estate activity is divided into two general areas: sub-concession revenues for aviation-related
commercial activities, above all express couriers, and sub-concession revenues for handling services, which
are subject to regulated tariffs.

The total commercial premises under sub-concession extend to over 100,000 square metres, of which over
75,000 square metres of offices, warehouses, technical service areas and hangars and approximately 30,000
square metres of outdoor space used for parking operating vehicles, manoeuvring in loading and loading
areas and aircraft refuelling vehicle areas.
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1 STRATEGIES AND RESULTS

1.1 AIR TRANSPORT GENERAL SECTOR AND PERFORMANCE: G. MARCONI AIRPORT OVERVIEW
AND POSITIONING

The global economy showed signs of improvement from the second quarter of 2024, driven by both services
and manufacturing. Consumption levels in the United States continue to strengthen against a labour market
which show signs of cooling, while Chinese industrial output has risen, with domestic demand however
remaining weak. International trade picked up slightly following contained growth in the first quarter, despite
a rise in shipping costs in May, which were higher than the levels reached at the beginning of the year
following the Houthi militia attacks in the Red Sea. Against this backdrop, according to the OECD’s May
projections, global GDP growth in 2024 is estimated at 3.1%, in line with 2023, representing a slight
improvement on February’s outlook. Any worsening of the international tensions, particularly in the Middle
East, continues to pose a downside risk for economic activity and trade, which may act as a driver however
of inflation. Eurozone GDP returned to positive territory (+0.3% on the previous period), after five quarters
of stagnation, with estimated growth of 0.9% in 2024, 1.4% in 2025 and 1.6% in 2026. GDP grew at a
contained pace also in ltaly, supported by services, in particular the tourism related components, against a
contraction in manufacturing output.

The price of Brent crude has fluctuated widely: in April and May, prices had fallen as the risks of escalating
Iran-Israel tensions diminished. They subsequently rose (approx. USD 85 per barrel), mainly due to the
decision of the OPEC+ countries to extend until 2025 the voluntary production cuts agreed for 2023 and 2024.
The benchmark price for natural gas has also begun to rise on the European markets (Title Transfer Facility,
TTF), to in excess of Euro 30 per megawatt hour.

Inflation again began to cool from April 2024. The Federal Reserve in June maintained benchmark rates
unchanged for the seventh consecutive meeting, at 5.25-5.50%, highlighting that disinflation needs to
consolidate before introducing rate cuts. Also in the Eurozone, consumer inflation has declined compared
to the previous twelve months, to 2.5% in 2024, to 2.2% in 2025 {coming back in line with the 2% target for
the fourth quarter) and to 1.9% in 2026. The 2024 projection was revised 2/10’s of a point upwards compared
to last March, mainly in view of the stronger-than-expected energy component. In Italy, in the second
quarter, overall inflation remained at very contained levels (Source: Economic Bulletin, Bank of Italy, July
2024).

Against this backdrop and according to the IATA (International Air Transport Association), passenger traffic
in H1 2024 continued to grow at a sustained pace, although slowing - up +13.4% on the same period of 2023.
Growth is currently being driven by international traffic (+17% compared to the January-June 2023 period),
boosted by the reopening of the Asian market, while domestic traffic grew by 7% compared to the same
period of the previous year. Global cargo traffic in the first six months of 2024 was up on the same period of
2023 (+13.4%), reflecting a slight decline in the comparative H1 2023. The growing demand for air cargo
traffic therefore confirms the important role played by e-commerce in the current global landscape. In
addition, the recent interest in air-sea services following the constraints imposed on maritime traffic due to
the complexities surrounding the situation in the Red Sea, emerged as an additional driver of growth, albeit
to a lesser extent. The IATA however indicates that the market was negatively impacted by the cooling of a
number of major economies (e.g. China), also following the easing of inflation, high unemployment levels
and the real estate market crises. Despite these factors, according to the air-cargo industry sector estimates
growth of 5% is forecast for the year (Source: IATA, Air Passenger and Air Freight Market Analysis, June 2024).
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European passenger traffic was up 8.9% in H1 2024 compared to the previous year, despite being influenced
by general uncertainties concerning current macroeconomic and geopolitical factors. Cargo traffic, in line
with the general growth trend, increased by 9.6% compared to H1 2023 (Source: ACI Europe, June 2024).

After finally emerging from the pandemic, Italian passenger numbers also reported substantially higher
volumes compared to 2023 (+12.1% in the first half of the year), driven by strong international traffic
performance. In June, passenger traffic was up 10.8% compared to the previous year. Cargo traffic grew by
18.3% in H1 compared to 2023 (Source: Assaeroporti e Aeroporti 2030, June 2024).

Bologna Airport experienced significant growth in H1 compared to the same period in 2023 (+10% over H1
2023). The trend is now more balanced between domestic and international traffic (+12.2% and +9.3%
respectively), maintaining a stable impact on the overall volume. In H1 2024, Bologna Airport ranked fourth
in Italy by number of passengers and third by cargo volume transported (Source: Assaeroporti e Aeroporti
2030, June 2024).

1.2 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

The Group’s strategic objectives which underlie the development of all operations are outlined below.

“Connect”

The Group seeks to maintain a varied range of flight offerings suited to various types of users by adding to
the number of airlines operating out of the airport, while continuing to maintain good margins also on the
new traffic generated. In terms of traffic development, the Group targets the adding of routes, with the
introduction of new Eastern and long-haul destinations, while boosting frequencies to existing destinations.
The Group also focuses on improving airport accessibility, through the development of ground connections
and the expansion of its catchment area.

“Develop”

The investments outlined in the Master Plan and Regulatory Agreement are fundamental to the development
of the Group's business. The strategy in question calls for an efficient use of the existing infrastructure's
capacity and modular implementation of new investments to ensure that infrastructure capacity keeps pace
with expected traffic development. The passenger terminal expansion project is a key part of the
infrastructure development plan, permitting the development of - in particular - the boarding gates area, in
addition to extending dedicated commercial space.

This project is complemented by targeted work to increase the capacity of some specific subsystems, such as
security and passport controls.

“Experience”

The Group is focused on ensuring the constant improvement of the services offered to airport users in its
fields of operation, both directly and indirectly, while also constantly improving its standards of security,
quality and respect for the environment. In order to support and improve all aspects of operations and
generate Customer loyalty, the Group considers it key to develop a culture of innovation which revolves
around the installation of technology that facilitates greater interaction with passengers and optimises the
airport travelling experience.
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“Care”

The Group is committed to all aspects of sustainability, ranging from those of an environmental nature to
compliance with ethical and social principles, in view of the important role which Bologna airport plays as a
vital hub for the region. The Group also strives to develop those who work at the Airport and build an
organisation which responds to the evolving demands of the market and which supports the individual in
their work.

The Group has furthermore identified two overarching guidelines to the strategic objectives identified above
which are viewed as a touchpoint for company operations:

“Maximise financial performance”

The Group is focused on consistently improving the financial performance and on ensuring an adequate
return for shareholders.

“performing and sustainable corporation”

The Group aims to improve the efficiency and efficacy of its processes and internal structure, with a view to
improving company performance and development, while paying increasing attention to sustainability in its
environmental, social and governance components.

1.3 SHARE PERFORMANCE
AdB's shares began trading on the STAR segment of the Milan Stock Exchange on July 14, 2015.
The following graphs present:
- the share performance between January 1, 2024 and June 30, 2024;
- tracking of the company's share performance against the FTSE ltalia all-share index.
On June 28, 2024 (the last day of trading in June), the official share price was Euro 7.86 per share, resulting
in an AdB Group market capitalisation of approximately Euro 284 million at that date.

AdB share performance (01/01/2023-30/06/2024)
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AdB share and FTSE Italia All-Share performance (01/01/2024-30/06/2024)

- FTSE Italia All Share

- AdB

AdB share performance - prices and volumes (01/01/2024-30/06/2024)
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The share performance during H1 2024 reflects a substantial degree of seasonality following the cyclical
cooling phase in the first quarter of the year, reflecting a gradual slowdown in the global economy that
emerged towards the end of 2023. Following a decline observed between the end of January and March, the
stock remained stable until the end of the period under review, with occasional spikes coinciding with an
increase in trading volumes. Although against higher volumes, the average share price slightly decreased
both compared to the previous quarter and against the same period of 2023, when it benefited from a
positive general market boost.
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2. KEY OPERATING RESULTS ANALYSIS

2.1 AVIATION STRATEGIC BUSINESS UNIT

2.1.1 AVIATION STRATEGIC BUSINESS UNIT: TRAFFIC DATA

During H1 2024, the ongoing growth in traffic volumes marked a definitive departure from the challenging
pandemic period and the beginning of a new growth phase featuring a different traffic mix and flight
schedule.

During the first six months of the year, the airport recorded a total of 5,045,265 passengers, an increase on
2023 (+10.0%), with 39,699 movements (+8.0%) and 28,158 tonnes of cargo transported (+8.7%). The
average load factor was substantially stable at 82.5% in 2024, compared to 82.2% in the same period of 2023.

Passenger traffic performance January-June 2024

+10.0% vs HI 2023

+$.1%v1 Q12023 *14.3% v Q2 2023

15,000 .
10,000
5,000
[}
RIAASAAAAAIRAREEI R IR 8
womwme P21 2023 Fus 2024
January - January ~ Cge.% 2024 -
June 2024 June 2023 2023
Passengers 5,045,265 4,585,115 10.0%
Movements 39,699 36,766 8.0%
Tonnage 2,758,574 2,541,408 8.5%
Cargo 28,158,380 25,902,698 8.7%

Data includes General Aviation and transits
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Passenger traffic breakdown ::::azrgz; % of total ::::azlgz; % of total Cge.:?):: o
Legacy 1,591,149 31.5% 1,412,728 30.8% 12.6%
Low-cost 3,432,038 68.0% 3,147,898 68.7% 9.0%
Charter 14,371 0.3% 16,091 0.4% -10.7%
Transits 1,994 0.0% 3,060 0.1% -34.8%
Total Commercial Aviation 5,039,552 99,9% 4,579,777 99.9% 10.0%
General Aviation 5,713 0.1% 5,338 0.1% 7.0%
Total 5,045,265 100.0% 4,585,115 100.0% 10.0%

Low-cost traffic reported increased volumes compared to 2023 (+9.0%), while legacy traffic experienced an
even more accelerated recovery (+12.6% compared to 2023), driven by increased movements and of the
average load factor. These varying growth trends during the post-pandemic years altered the traffic mix,
resulting in the dominance of the low-cost share. Despite this segment offering lower margins, its share
slightly decreased from 68.7% in 2023 to 68.0% in 2024.

Although international traffic over recent years has been negatively impacted by the significant slowdowns
related to continued partial restrictions on the movement of people between countries, in addition to the
unstable general economic and geopolitical environment, from summer 2022 a significant recovery on pre-
pandemic values was evident, reflecting the benefit from “revenge tourism” as a result of the lifting of
movement restrictions. The trend is now supported by the seasonality of demand, with the stronger growth
of domestic traffic against the international component (+12.2% and +9.3% on January-June 2023
respectively), maintaining a stable impact on the overall volume.

Passenger traffic breakdown ::::azlgz; % of total ::::ng; % of total Cee :;22: L
Domestic 1,245,780 24.7% 1,110,090 24.2% 12.2%
International 3,793,772 75.2% 3,469,687 75.7% 9.3%
Total Commercial Aviation 5,039,552 99.9% 4,579,777 99.9% 10.0%
General Aviation 5,713 0.1% 5,338 0.1% 7.0%
Total 5,045,265 100.0% 4,585,115 100.0% 10.0%

Although EU traffic saw strong growth in the first half of 2023, Non-EU traffic was up significantly on the
same period of the previous year (+15.1%), due to the growth of a number of key connections from/to
Bologna airport (e.g. United Kingdom and Albania).
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January —

January -

Cge.% 2024 -

Passenger traffic breakdown June 2024 % of total June 2023 % of total 2023
EU 3,891,682 77.1% 3,582,615 78.1% 8.6%
Non-EU 1,147,870 22.8% 997,162 21.7% 15.1%
Total Commercial Aviation 5,039,552 99.9% 4,579,777 99.9% 10.0%
General Aviation 5,713 0.1% 5,338 0.1% 7.0%
Total 5,045,265 100.0% 4,585,115 100.0% 10.0%

Among international destinations, Spain confirmed its top spot in passenger traffic by volume, accounting
for 14.8% of the total. Germany is next, with 6.8% of total passengers, followed by the United Kingdom with
6.5%, France with 5.2% and Romania with 4.9%. Three Non-EU countries are among the top 10: in addition
to the United Kingdom, also Turkey and Albania.

Passenger traffic by country ::::azrgz; % of total ;:::azlgz_a % of total Cge.:?) 22 : 24
Italy 1,245,780 24.7% 1,110,090 24.2% 12.2%
Spain 748,548 14.8% 703,433 15.3% 6.4%
Germany 342,295 6.8% 325,885 7.1% 5.0%
United Kingdom 328,146 6.5% 319,049 7.0% 2.9%
France 261,957 5.2% 262,683 5.7% -0.3%
Romania 247,116 4.9% 224,786 4.9% 9.9%
Albania 232,217 4.6% 132,041 2.9% 75.9%
Turkey 209,772 4.2% 169,945 3.7% 23.4%
Netherlands 172,816 3.4% 143,664 3.1% 20.3%
Poland 146,695 2.9% 112,853 2.5% 30.0%
Other 1,109,923 22.0% 1,080,686 23.6% 2.7%
Total 5,045,265 100.0% 4,585,115 100.0% 10.0%

Despite the positive effect of revenge tourism and the seasonality of demand, seven of the top ten
destinations were foreign cities, with Tirana leading the way with approximately 232 thousand passengers.
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Main passenger traffic routes :z::‘;;’z; ;3::32?2; Cge.;?,:: ad-
Catania 315,411 317,081 -0.5%
Tirana 232,217 132,041 75.9%
Barcelona 220,848 209,246 5.5%
Palermo 165,998 151,158 9.8%
Paris CDG 148,633 145,454 2.2%
Madrid 144,472 132,744 8.8%
Istanbul 141,726 116,414 21.7%
Bucharest OTP 130,007 105,660 23.0%
London LHR 129,083 126,322 2.2%
Brindisi 114,838 106,790 7.5%

Passenger traffic including transits

Analysing the performance of the airlines, Ryanair is confirmed as the leading airline at the airport with 53.7%
of total traffic, followed by Wizz Air with 9.6% of traffic (up 5.0% on 2023). The leading legacy airlines appear
among the top ten at the airport, confirming the wide range of carriers operating at Bologna Airport, despite
the extraordinary circumstances.

Passenger traffic by airline ::::Z:)vz; % of total :j::;?z; % of total Cee 29; ::24 :
Ryanair 2,710,349 53.7% 2,467,633 53.8% 9.8%
Wizz Air 483,562 9.6% 460,703 10.0% 5.0%
Air France 148,633 2.9% 145,323 3.2% 2.3%
Turkish Airlines 141,405 2.8% 116,545 2.5% 21.3%
British Airways 129,083 2.6% 126,406 2.8% 2.1%
Vueling 122,166 2.4% 113,908 2.5% 7.2%
ITA Airways 114,764 2.3% 59,571 1.3% 92.7%
KLM Royal Dutch Airlines 113,427 2.2% 91,577 2.0% 23.9%
Lufthansa 107,212 2.1% 115,428 2.5% -7.1%
Air Dolomiti 104,564 2.1% 73,883 1.6% 41.5%
Other 870,100 17.2% 814,138 17.8% 6.9%
Total 5,045,265 100.0% 4,585,115 100.0% 10.0%
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Cargo Traffic

Global cargo traffic picked up significantly in recent months, despite challenging global economic and
geopolitical conditions, due to disruptions in shipping caused by the Suez crisis. Against this backdrop, in H1
2024, global cargo traffic reported a 13.4% increase in volume compared to 2023. Similarly, there was a
notable increase in European cargo traffic compared to the same period of 2023 (+9.6%).

Regarding the Group's cargo operations, cargo and mail traffic at Bologna amounted to 28,158,380 kg in H1
2024, showing a significant uptick (+8.7%) over the corresponding period in 2023. This outcome reflects the
positive performance of air cargo, driven by the excellent results of the “combi” segment (now returning to
pre-pandemic levels), which offset a slight decline in courier traffic attributed to reduced consumption and
economic stagnation. Road cargo was also up significantly on the same period of the previous year.

(in KG) January - January — Cge.% 2024 -
June 2024 June 2023 2023
Air cargo, of which 22,590,628 20,874,554 8.2%
Cargo 22,590,465 20,874,318 8.2%
Mail 163 236 -30.9%
Road cargo 5,567,752 5,028,144 10.7%
Total 28,158,380 25,902,698 8.7%

2.1.2 AVIATION STRATEGIC BUSINESS UNIT: FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Bl sanss af EULS for the half year ended for the half year ended Total change % change
30.06.2024 30.06.2023 vs 2023 vs 2023
Passenger Revenues 25,817 26,002 (185) -0.7%
Carrier Revenues 17,485 14,122 3,363 23.8%
Airport Operator Revenues 2,573 1,990 583 29.3%
Traffic Incentives (11,681) (13,123) 1,442 -11.0%
Revenues from Construction Services 11,725 12,595 (870) -6.9%
Other revenues 1,050 858 192 22.4%
Aeronautical and FSC Revenue Reduction 0 (94) 94 n.a.
Reduction in Other Revenues to FSC 0 (7) 7 n.a.
Total AVIATION SBU Revenues 46,969 42,343 4,626 10.9%

The Aviation Strategic Business Unit's revenues consist of fees paid by users (airlines and passengers through
the airlines) and airport operators for the use of the infrastructure and services provided on an exclusive
basis by the Group for landing, take-off, lighting, aircraft parking and passenger and cargo operations, in
addition to centralised infrastructure and exclusive-use premises.

Given the public utility aspect of airport services, airport charges are regulated by both national and EU
legislation. The new regulations and implementation measures — including the models approved by the
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Transport Regulation Authority — require that changes to the system or amount of airport fees be made with
the consent, on the one hand, of the airport manager, and of the airport's users on the other.

In H1 2024, revenues grew on the same period of 2023 thanks to the trend in traffic volumes. The growth
was mitigated by decreased investments in assets under concession.

Group revenues from the Aviation Strategic Business Unit were up 10.9% overall on 2023. The individual
accounts broke down as follows:

- Passenger Revenues (-0.7%): despite an increase in passenger traffic (+10%), revenues dipped compared
to the same period in 2023 due to the lower departing passenger tariffs;

- Carrier Revenues (+23.8%): carrier revenues are in line with the trend in movements and tonnage and
with the trend in tariffs, particularly take-off and landing tariffs, which increased on 2023;

- Airport Operator Revenues (+29.3%): revenue fluctuated due to changes in traffic volumes and
increased fees for subleasing operational spaces, providing check-in desks, and fuelling;

- Incentives (-11%): despite an increase in incentivised traffic, incentives were lower than H1 2023 due to
reduced departing passenger incentives following renewed incentive contracts;

- Revenues from Construction Services (-6.9%): the decrease in this component can be attributed to the
reduced investments made during the period.

2.2 NON-AVIATION STRATEGIC BUSINESS UNIT

2.2.1 NON-AVIATION STRATEGIC BUSINESS UNIT: FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

in thousands of Euro for the half year ended for the half year ended ch::;aelvs % change vs
30.06.2024 30.06.2023 2023 2023
Retail and Advertising 9,220 8,377 843 10.1%
Parking 10,340 9,092 1,248 13.7%
Real Estate 1,491 1,513 (22) -1.5%
Passenger services 4,157 3,531 626 17.7%
Revenues from Construction Services 2,934 466 2,468 529.6%
Other revenues 1,354 1,668 (314) -18.8%
Non-Aeronautical and FSC Revenue Reduction (12) (45) 33 -73.3%
Reduction in Other Revenues to FSC 0 (1) 1 n.a.
Total NON AVIATION SBU Revenues 29,484 24,601 4,883 19.8%

Total non-aviation business revenues increased by 19.8% in H1 2024 compared to 2023.

The individual areas of this business unit performed as follows.

Retail and Advertising
Performance in this revenue category is mainly tied to traffic, based on the contract terms in effect for most
Retail and some Advertising agreements. During this period, growth (+10.1%) was solely attributed to the
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Retail sector, as Advertising revenues decreased on 2023 due to performance of advertising contracts with
fuellers and the non-renewal of a number of contracts. Duty-Free emerged as the top-performing retail
segment, with positive contributions also seen from food & beverage and other types of retail sectors.

Parking

The movement in parking and rail access revenues (+13.7%) was also strictly tied to the trend in traffic
volumes, in addition to improved performance resulting from a new sales strategy put in place in 2023.

Real Estate

Real Estate revenues remained substantially consistent with 2023.

Passenger services

In H1 2024, passenger services posted growth of 17.7% on 2023, attributable both to premium services (i.e.
lounge and accessory services) and car hire. The performance of the individual businesses is described below.

Premium services

This business posted an increase in revenues compared to the same period in 2023 due to the growth in
traffic and the significant increase in the penetration of the service, due also to an increased propensity to
purchase in advance, compared to the substantial stability of purchases made directly in the lounge.

Self-hire sub-concessions

The period results reflect the positive impact of rising passenger traffic and contractual conditions, leading
to a higher percentage of royalties received by the operator. The increased penetration of car hire services
at the airport also contributed to this trend.

Revenues from Construction Services

The performance of this component relates to investments in the business unit over the same period of the
previous year.

Other revenues

The contraction in other revenues on 2023 (-18.8%) is due to reduced revenues from penalties and from
energy efficiency and the non-renewal for 2024 of the extraordinary contribution to partially offset the
increased costs incurred for electricity and natural gas, applied however in 2022 and 2023. The accrual of
the contribution for the PRECINCT funded project, as concluded and accounted for, did not offset the
reduction in revenues outlined above. The objective of the PRECINCT project is to systemise and connect the
parts that make up the public and private Cls (critical infrastructures) of a specific geographical area, and thus
provide cyber-physical security with a common approach that can ensure protection for the local area,
inhabitants and infrastructures, meaning that PRECINCT that can be efficiently replicated for a safer Europe.
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3 ANALYSIS OF THE OPERATING RESULTS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND CASH FLOWS

3.1 CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS ANALYSIS

Total %
inthovsonds of . T s e
2023 2023
Revenues from aeronautical services 34,511 29,033 5478 18.9%
Revenues from non-aeronautical services 26,779 24,145 2,634 10.9%
Revenues from construction services 14,659 13,061 1,598 12.2%
Other operating revenues and proceeds 504 705 {201) -28.5%
REVENUES 76,453 66,944 9,509 14.2%
Consumables and goods (1,899) (1,772}  (127) 7.2%
Service costs {11,626) (11,913) 287  -2.4%
Costs for construction services {13,961) (12,439) (1,522) 12.2%
Leases, rentals and other costs (5,229) (4,912) (317) 6.5%
Other operating expenses (1,797) (1,897) 100 -5.3%
Personnel costs (16,880) (15,279) (1,601) 10.5%
COSTS {51,392) (48,212) (3,180) 6.6%
GROSS OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) (EBITDA) 25,061 18,732 6,329 33.8%
Amortisation of concession rights (4,437) (4,101) (336) 8.2%
Amortisation of other intangible assets (432) (252) (180) 71.4%
Depreciation of tangible assets {1,105) (1,091) (14) 1.3%
DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT (5,974) (5,444) {530) 9.7%
Reversals of impairment losses (net write-downs) on trade and other receivables (609) (538) (71) 13.2%
Provision for renewal of airport infrastructure (1,762) (1,351) (411) 30.4%
Provisions for other risks and charges (610) (697) 87 -12.5%
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (2,981) (2,586) (395) 15.3%
TOTAL COSTS (60,347) (56,242) (4,105) 7.3%
EBIT 16,106 10,702 5,404 50.5%
Financial income 449 435 14 3.2%
Financial expenses (1,337) (1,565) 228 -14.6%
RESULT BEFORE TAXES 15,218 9,572 5,646 59.0%
TAXES FOR THE PERIOD (4,448) (2,757) (1,691) 61.3%
PROFIT (LOSSES) FOR THE PERIOD 10,770 6,815 3,955 58.0%
Minorities profits (losses) 0 0 0 n.a.
Group profits (losses) 10,770 6,815 3,955 58.0%

A consolidated profit of Euro 10.8 million is reported for the first half of 2024, compared to 6.8 million in
the first half of 2023.

Operating revenues overall grew 14.2%.
Revenues break down as follows:

- revenues from aeronautical services were up 18.9% on 2023, as a result of the increased traffic volumes.
The revenue increase exceeded the increased traffic levels, thanks to a contraction in the per-passenger
incentive, on the basis of the conditions under the renewed incentive contracts;

- revenues from non-aeronautical services grew 10.9% due to the performance of the various category
components, as outlined in the relative section;

- revenues from construction services increased (+12.2%) following the rolling out of increased investments
in the non-aviation sector;

- other operating revenues and income: the decrease on 2023 (-28.5%) was mainly due to the contribution
outlined in the non-aviation section.
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Costs in the period overall increased 6.6% on the same period of 2023.
These break down as follows:

v' costs for consumables and goods increased 7.2%, due to the increased purchase of General
Aviation aircraft fuel, as a result of the increase in traffic, only partially offset by the reduced aircraft
de-icing liquid costs, thanks to the mild weather in the first quarter;

v' service costs decreased on 2023 (-2.4%), due to the absence of the outsourced airside PRM
assistance service, brought in-house from December 2023 and lower costs for utilities and for off-
site parking shuttles, not fully offset by the increased costs for cleaning, consultancy and
professional services, maintenance, MBL services and security services;

v" costs from construction services increased (+12.2%), as did the related revenues, following the
rolling out of increased investments in the non-aviation sector;

v'the movements in the lease, rentals and other costs account (+6.5%) is mainly due to the change
in traffic volume, on whose basis the concession and security fees are calculated;

v other operating expenses decreased 5.3% due to the lower equity losses and reduced tax charges
in the period compared to the previous year.

Reference should be made to the personnel costs section of this report for further details.
EBITDA of Euro 25.1 million is reported for the first half of 2024, compared to Euro 18.7 million in 2023.

Looking to overheads, “depreciation, amortisation and impairments” amounted to approximately Euro 6
million, compared to Euro 5.4 million in the first half of 2023: the growth of 9.7% is in line with the progress
of the Group investment plan. The provisions also increased (15.3%), from Euro 2.6 million to approximately
Euro 3 million, due to the higher accrual to the provision for the renewal of airport infrastructure.

As a result of that outlined above, and particularly, the increase in revenues, EBIT was up 50.5% to Euro 16.1
million (Euro 10.7 million in 2023).

Financial management reports net financial expense of Euro 0.9 million, decreasing slightly (Euro 0.2
million) on 2023, despite the increase in the discounting charges for provisions, thanks to the lower financial
expense on loans following the transactions to optimise the financial structure undertaken by the parent
company in September 2023, with the early settlement of a Euro 33.9 million loan, subject to increasing SACE
guarantee commissions, and the signing of an ESG KPI Linked Loan for Euro 15 million.

As a result of that outlined above, the Result before taxes grew 59% on the comparative half-year to Euro
15.2 million (Euro 9.6 million in H1 2023).

As a result of the increase in the assessable base, income taxes increased from Euro 2.8 million in 2023 to
Euro 4.4 million (+61.3%).

With growth of 58%, the net profit in the period, entirely concerning the Group, was Euro 10.8 million,
compared to Euro 6.8 million in H1 2023.

The performance of EBITDA adjusted for the construction services margin and the revenues from Terminal
Value (TV) on the Provision for Renewal (see the Intangible Assets paragraph of the Accounting Policies of
the notes to the 2023 financial statements) is presented below:

Aﬁ
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il anis e for the half year ended  for the half year ended cz:;agle % change
30.06.2024 30.06.2023 vs 2023
vs 2023
Revenues from aeronautical services 34,511 29,033 5,478 18.9%
Revenues from non-aeronautical services 26,779 24,145 2,634 10.9%
Other operating revenues and proceeds 504 677 (173) -25.6%
ADJUSTED REVENUES 61,794 53,855 7,939 14.7%
Consumables and goods (1,899) (1,772) (127) 7.2%
Service costs (11,626) (11,913) 287 -2.4%
Leases, rentals and other costs (5,229) (4,912) (317) 6.5%
Other operating expenses (1,797) (1,897) 100 -5.3%
Personnel costs {16,880) (15,279) {1,601) 10.5%
ADSUSTED COSTS (37,431) (35,773) (1,658) 4.6%
ADJUSTED GROSS OPERATING PROFIT (ADJUSTED EBITDA) 24,363 18,082 6,281 34.7%
Revenues from construction services 14,659 13,061 1,598 12.2%
Costs for construction services (13,961) (12,439) (1,522) 12.2%
Construction Services Margin 698 622 76 12.2%
Revenues from TV on Provision for Renewal (*) 0 28 (28) n.a.
GRQOSS OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) (EBITDA)} 25,061 18,732 6,329 33.8%

(*) For further information on terminal value, refer to the note in the financial statements on accounting policies regarding intangible
assets.

Adjusted revenues were up 14.7% on 2023, while Adjusted costs increased 4.6%, resulting in Adjusted
EBITDA of Euro 24.4 million, compared to 18.1 million in 2023 (+34.7%).

The table below shows the quarterly passenger traffic performance and EBITDA of the Parent Company
adjusted for the construction services margin and the revenues from Terminal Value on the Provision for
Renewal.

Q12024 Crneste v Q2 2024 Change % vs 2023
2023

Passenger Traffic 1,949,775 8.1% 3,095,490 11.3%
§NCOME STATEMENT (in thousands of Euro}

ADJUSTED REVENUES 24,940 18.5% 32,658 11.7%
Revenues from aeronautical services 13,107 23.6% 17,414 15.3%
Revenues from non-aeronautical services 11,452 12.4% 14,969 10.3%
Other operating revenues and proceeds 381 53.6% 275 -50.5%
ADJUSTED COSTS (16,518) 5.0% {17,940) 3.1%
Personnel costs (7,737) 11.7% {(8,299) 10.1%
Other operating costs (8,781) -0.4% (9,641) -2.2%
ADJUSTED EBITDA 8,422 58.8% 14,718 24.4%
ADJUSTED EBITDA MARGIN 33.8% n.a. 45.1% n.a.
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3.2 CASH FLOW ANALYSIS

The consolidated cash flow statement, indicating cash flows generated/absorbed from operating, investing
and financing activities, is summarised below:

in Euro thousands June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023 Change
Cash flov.v gener:‘zxted/(a.bsorbed) by operating activities before 24,423 18,305 6,118
changes in working capital

Cash flow generated / (absorbed) by net operating activities 12,820 8,366 4,454
Cash flow generated / (absorbed) by investing activities (16,883) 732 (17,615)
Cash flow generated / (absorbed) by financing activities (15,929) (4,901) (11,028)
Final cash change (19,992} 4,197 (24,189)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 44,334 27,868 16,466
Final cash change (19,992) 4,197 (24,189)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 24,342 32,065 {7,723)

Cash flow generated by operating activities before working capital changes amounted to Euro 24.4 million,
against Euro 18.3 million in the first half of 2023.

Working capital absorbed cash of Euro 11.6 million in the period, due to:

- the increase in gross trade receivables of Euro 4.6 million and of other receivables for Euro 4.2 million,
related to the increased traffic and the impact on trade receivables and on the surtax and IRESA
receivables under “other receivables”;

- outflows for the payment of interest and the use of provisions for Euro 1.6 million, in addition to those
for the payment of taxes for Euro 3 million.

In terms of sources, trade payables increased Euro 0.3 million, with “other payables” increasing Euro 1.2
million, mainly due to the increase in payables for surtaxes and IRESA, for the fire prevention fee and
of tax payables, in addition to interest collected of Euro 0.2 million.

As a result of that outlined above, cash flows from operating activities, net of working capital changes,
generated Euro 12.8 million, compared to a cash generation of Euro 8.4 million in H1 2023.

The absorption of cash flows of Euro 16.9 million from investing activities was due to:

- the absorption of cash from investment activities in tangible and intangible assets, mainly
concession rights for Euro 21.7 million, compared to Euro 14.3 million in the comparative
period;

- from the absorption of resources of Euro 0.2 million for the recapitalisation of the investee
company Urban V and

- from the generation of resources for Euro 5 million for the receipt of overdue time deposits;

Financing activities absorbed cash flows of Euro 15.9 million, due to:
- the payment of dividends from the 2023 profit (Euro 9.5 million);
- the repayment of the maturing loan instalments (Euro 6.2 million);
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- the settlement of lease liabilities (Euro 0.2 million).
As a result, the final overall change in cash for the period was a negative Euro 20 million.
The Group's net financial position at June 30, 2024, at December 31, 2023 and lune 30, 2023 is presented

below, in accordance with Consob Communication of July 28, 2006 and the ESMA/2011/81 and ESMA32-382-
1138 Recommendations of March 4, 2021.

for the half for the year for the half Change Change
in thousands of Euro year ended ended year ended 30.06.2024 30.06.2024

30.06.2024 31.12.2023 30.06.2023 31.12.2023 30.06.2023
A Ccash 23,342 35,323 32,065 {11,981) (8,723)
B Other cash equivalents 1,000 9,011 0 (8,011) 1,000
€ Other current financial assets 0 5,002 30,342 (5,002) {30,342)
D Liquidity (A+B+C) 24,342 49,336 62,407 (24,994) (38,065)
E  Current financial payables (3,761) (7,232) (2,174) 3,471 (1,587)
F  Current portion of non-current debt (11,059) {12,323) (20,617) 1,264 9,558
G Current financial debt (€ + F) (14,820) (19,555) (22,791) 4,735 7,971
H Net current financial debt (G - D) 9,522 29,781 39,616 (20,259) (30,094)
I Non-current financiai payables (16,395) (21,284) (37,314) 4,889 20,919
J Debt instruments 0 0 0 0 0
K Trade payables and other non-current payables (44) {115) (269) 71 225
L Non-current financial debt (I +J + K} {16,439) (21,399) (37,583) 4,960 21,144
M Total net financial Position (H + L) (6,917) 8,382 2,033 {15,299) (8,950)

The Group Net Financial Position at June 30, 2024 was a debt position of Euro 6.9 million, compared to a
cash position of Euro 8.4 million at December 31, 2023.

Compared to December 31, 2023, the Euro 25 million decrease in liquidity is due to:

the generation of operating cash flows, net of Net Working Capital movements, of Euro 12.8 million;
the cash flow absorbed from investing activities for Euro 21.9 million;

the cash flow absorbed from financing activities for Euro 6.4 million.

the payment of dividends of Euro 9.5 million.

On the payables side, there are no significant differences compared to December 31, 2023; the movement is
due to the payments of loan instalments coming due. Compared to H1 2023, the differences were due to
the settlement by AdB of the Intesa Sanpaolo loan with SACE guarantee and the signing of a new loan with
Credit Agricole in September 2023.
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3.3 FINANCIAL POSITION ANALYSIS

The Group financial position, classified according to “sources” and “uses”, is presented below:

Change Change |
i e LS B e
- Trade receivables 23,052 19,072 21,444 3,980 1,608
- Tax receivables 304 360 404 (56) (100)
- Other Receivables 9,925 6,522 11,829 3,403 (1,904)
- Inventories 802 878 950 (76} (148)
Sub-total 34,083 26,832 34,627 7,251 (544)
- Trade payables (27,167) (26,897) (26,778) (270) (389)
- Tax payables (5,399) (2,664) (2,013) (2,735) (3,386)
- Other payables {40,263) {36,305) (41,828) (3,958) 1,565 .
Sub-total (72,829) (65,866) (70,619) {6,963) (2,210)
Net operating working capital (38,746) (39,034) (35,992) 288 {2,754)
Fixed assets 255,215 238,820 229,852 16,395 25,363
- Net deferred tax assets 4,556 4,041 5,545 515 (989)
- Other non-current assets 17,583 16,263 13,948 1,320 3,635
Total fixed assets 277,354 259,124 249,345 18,230 28,05
;:\ll'::/;s:::s for risks, charges & (24,335) (22,426) — P Erii0)
- Other non-current liabilities (83) (77) (102) (6) 19
Sub-total {24,418) (22,503) (19,247) (1,915) {5,171)
Fixed Operating Capital 252,936 236,621 230,098 16,315 2;,8;
Total Uses 214,190 197,587 194,106 16,603 20,084_ ‘
Change Change
SOURCES As at As at 31.12.2023 SR 30.06.2024 30.06.2024
30.06.2024 30.06.2023 31.12.2023 30.06.2023
Net financial {debt) position {6,917) 8,382 2,033 (15,299) (8,950)
- Share Capital {90,314) (90,314} (90,314) 0 0
- Reserves (106,189} (98,949) (99,010) (7,240) (7,179)
- Profit {loss) for the period (10,770) (16,706) (6,815) 5,936 (3,955)
Group Shareholders’” equity (207,273) (205,969) (196,139) (1,304) (11,134)
- Minority Interests 0 0 0 0 0
Total Shareholders’ Equity (207,273) {(205,969) (196,139) (1,304) {11,134)
Total sources (214,190) (197,587) (194,106) (16,603) (20,084)

Net invested capital at June 30, 2024 was Euro 214.2 million, increasing Euro 16.6 million on December 31,
2023, mainly due to the increase in investments, principally concerning concession rights - the fixed capital
increased Euro 18.2 million to Euro 277.3 million, compared to Euro 259.1 million at December 31, 2023.
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In terms of sources, at June 30, 2024 a negative net financial position (net debt) of Euro 6.9 million is
reported, compared to a cash position of Euro 8.4 million at December 31, 2023, while consolidated and
Group Shareholders’ Equity amounted to Euro 207.3 million, compared to Euro 206 million at December 31,
2023, increasing due to the overall profit in the period, net of dividends distributed on the 2023 profit.

3.4 AIRPORT INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENTS
3.4.1 AIRPORT INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT

In H1 2024, infrastructure development therefore continued with progress on key projects in the various
airside, terminal and landside areas in line with the “2016-2030 Airport Development Plan” and the content
of the “2022-2026 Plan for the functional and sustainable development of the terminal area”. This is a
programme instrument annexed to the 2023-2026 Regulatory Agreement (Contratto di Programma - “CDP”)
for short-term interventions.

For the remaining duration of the current CDP, the most critical system that limits airport capacity is the
passenger terminal. Work to expand and modernise the Terminal is underway through the gradual expansion
of the narrowest and most critical areas. This work will continue throughout the remaining period of the
current CDP, including in relation to the updates to the work plan approved by ENAC in August 2024. Various
areas of the terminal are affected by critical issues related to airport capacity saturation - in certain areas and
specific sub-services - also relating to the works areas required for the extensions. These reduce parking
availability and boarding waiting areas and reduce - at least until the end of the Summer Season 2024 - certain
service levels at the airport.

3.4.2 INVESTMENTS

Investments in the first six months of 2024 totalled Euro 17.4 million, of which Euro 7.1 million concerning
infrastructural investment and environmental compensation and Euro 10.3 million regarding sustainability,
innovation, quality and airport operations focused investments.

The progress of the main infrastructural works is highlighted below:

® Aircraft Parking Lot 3 expansion: the provisional commissioning of the new AVL (Luminous Visual Aids)
and a new fuel storage facility for General Aviation flights is awaited.

® Apron 1 redevelopment: after the first phase of works was completed in 2023, the second phase of
deep paving redevelopment, including hydraulic works on the apron (area between stands 110 and
111 for a total of 10,000 m?), is now underway.

* Reconfiguration of the Schengen Departure Hall: work to expand the Schengen departure hall
continues, with the connecting corridor from the check-in area to the security control area now
complete. Work has begun to expand the departure hall.

® New perimeter road: Construction of the new perimeter road is complete.

* New Muiltistorey Car Park: work continues on the construction of a new multistorey car park made up
of two separate buildings distributed across eight storeys (ground floor + seven upper floors), which
will house 2,218 parking spaces.
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e Security and Passport Control Area Redevelopment: work continues to improve the efficiency of the
terminal’s main control subsystems, including security checks and passport control, with the goal of
increasing the level of quality and service offered to passengers. Specifically, redevelopment of the
security control area continued with the installation of four new faster, higher-performance lines (X-
ray machines and conveyor belts).

e Terminal expansion: ENAC is working to verify the executive project relating to the airside area of the
passenger terminal expansion, while the bidding process for the construction of the building related
to the Terminal expansion is in the assessment phase.

The main investments in airport operations, innovation, and to improve the service offered to passengers
and increase the efficiency of company processes are listed below:

e Expropriations and acquisitions: the expropriation of the P4 car park area, as provided for in the
Airport Development Plan, was completed, with the concomitant termination of the lease for AdB.

e Other efficiency and renovation measures: The BHS system was expanded to cope with increased
traffic volumes, new dynamic signage was installed and renovated on the airport road system, and a
new vehicle to spread de-icing liquid on the airside pavements was purchased

¢ Innovation and information technology: work to innovate the airport and IT systems continues
steadily.

Actions focused on sustainability include:

¢ New photovoltaic plants: the construction of a more powerful photovoltaic panel system compared
to the previous plant covering the terminal, is nearing completion.

¢ Other efficiency measures: Energy efficiency measures for lighting, construction of charging points for
electric operating vehicles (both landside and airside) and purchase of new electric cars to renew the
company vehicle fleet.

e Environmental compensation measures: completion of expropriation activities regarding properties
in the areas earmarked for the creation of a wooded strip along the northern perimeter of the airport
site in order to comply with the requirements of the Masterplan EIA Decree and the Implementing
Territorial Agreement for the Decarbonisation of Marconi Airport, compensating for the
environmental impacts related to airport transactions. A section of the path for the cycle track planned
as part of the woodland project was also constructed.

Provisions for Renewal

The total investment for the renewal and maintenance cycle of the airport infrastructure and plant in H1
2024 amounted to approx. Euro 1.0 million, of which Euro 0.5 million for landside works to maintain
operations (upgrading of the curbside canopy on the first floor, upgrading of the toilets and waterproofing
works on the terminal roofs in preparation for the installation of photovoltaic panels), Euro 0.4 million for
plant works (public information screens, CCTV system, chiller units and automatic doors and gates) and
approximately Euro 0.1 million for airside works to restore some sections of the service road.
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3.5 PERSONNEL

Workforce breakdown

for the half year ended  for the half year ended  Total changevs % change vs
30.06.2024 30.06.2023 2023 2023
Full Time Equivalent average workforce 532 472 60 13%
Executives 8 8 0 0%
Managers 46 40 6 15%
White-collar 370 332 38 11%
Blue-collar 108 92 16 17%
for the half year ended  for the half year ended Total changevs % change vs
30.06.2024 30.06.2023 2023 2023
Average workforce 588 520 68 13%
Executives 8 8 0 0%
Managers 46 40 6 15%
White-collar 420 375 45 12%
Blue-collar 114 97 17 18%

Source: Company workings

The increase in the workforce on 2023 (+60 FTE) almost entirely concerns operating personnel and therefore
concerns traffic movements and the bringing in-house of the airside PRM service from December 2023.

Costs
for the half year ended for the half year ended Total change vs % change vs
30.06.2024 30.06.2023 2023 2023
Personnel costs 16,880 15,279 1,601 10.5%

Source: Company workings

Personnel costs for H1 2024 increased by 10.5% on the same period of 2023, mainly due to:
- the increase in the workforce outlined above;
- increased use of temporary labour, mainly for the recruitment of facilitators in summer 2024 to
mitigate the impact of construction sites;
- increased costs for training and missions.

Trade union relations

H1 2024 saw trade union relations worsen, particularly as the local trade unions began a cooling-off
procedure against the Group companies and airport handling companies. This was in relation to the request
for a “site bonus” for all airport workers. AdB’s position in this regard was that the request was inadmissible,
considering it in no way a trade union issue and outside the normal rules of industrial relations.

The cooling-off procedure led to an initial 4-hour strike action being declared for July 5. Following this strike,
the Trade Unions declared a second 24-hour strike against ADB, its subsidiaries and the 3 handling companies
operating at the airport for September 24.
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On July 18, the Trade Unions also opened a second state of agitation (first phase of the cooling-off procedure
pursuant to laws 146/90, 83/2000, as amended) concerning AdB's launch of a “beauty contest” to identify a
partner for the management of the VIP lounge (MBL). This was followed by a meeting between the parties
onJuly 31in which AdB reiterated that this project does not putany jobs at risk as all resources not concerned
by the transfer to the new operator will in any case be relocated to the airport manager's operational services
without any financial loss or deterioration in their contractual status. The Trade Unions restated their
opposition to the project and requested AdB to withdraw it. As no agreement could be found, the procedure
was unsuccessful. The Trade Unions thus started the second phase of the cooling-off procedure on August 2
Currently, the company is waiting for the Prefecture of Bologna to convene the parties.

Training of personnel

During the first half of 2024, the funded training programme for executives, titled “Le Radici e le Ali” (Roots
and Wings), successfully concluded. It supported and accompanied the Company’s initiative to revise its
values, leadership model, and skills framework.

The “SDG Action Manager” training course for employees sitting on the inter-company sustainability
committee (Sustainability Team) also continued, as did the “Arms and Explosives” course for security
personnel, the “Train the Trainer” programme for 15 security supervisors on new X-ray machines, who
subsequently trained the remaining staff, and the mandatory “cyber security” course, run by in-house
instructors and via online platform resources, including simulated phishing scenarios.

Since last year, refresher courses for security personnel are provided in-house by a Training Centre instructor
certified for all ENAC categories. In addition to the annual update of all colieagues, the ENAC certified
instructor provides initial training to aspiring security staff and prepares them for the ENAC exam.

In terms of digitisation and innovation, we note the Innovation and Digitalisation Course on the main Teams
work tools and the addition of four Artificial Intelligence training pills to the Success Factor platform. These
are designed for the entire corporate population and seek to disseminate and develop basic understanding
of the topic.

3.6 KEY INFORMATION ON THE SUBSIDIARIES’ PERFORMANCES

Fast Freight Marconi Spa

The Parent Company acquired a 100% interest in FFM in 2009. The main activity of the subsidiary is cargo
and mail handling at Bologna airport. In particular, FFM is the handling agent for cargo export and import
operations of carriers moved through the airport via air and for surface cargo and manages the Temporary
Customs Warehouse for Non-EU Cargo arriving at the airport. The company thereafter in subsequent years
developed accessory services such as booking, operating as a regulated agent and has a specialist customs
operations structure.

The company prepares its financial statements according to Italian GAAP. The key indicators for the period,
adjusted where necessary entirely for the purposes of preparing these consolidated financial statements as
per IAS/IFRS, are presented below.

At June 30, 2024, the company had 15 employees (same as December 31, 2023) and, in continuity with
previous years, assigned many staff activities to the parent under a management & staffing contract which
covers the accounting, administrative, legal, supervision, personnel and ICT areas.

In H1 2024, FFM handled 10,968,132 kg of cargo, marking an 8% decrease on 2023, entirely due to the
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temporary discontinuation of a courier service. Breaking down the components, air traffic was up 62%, while
road traffic decreased by 35%, largely attributed to the loss of the courier volumes mentioned above.

Overall revenues for the period increased by 19.5% over 2023, driven by the growth in air traffic. At the same
time, cost increases, mainly resulting from service and personnel expenses, were limited to 8.1%.
Consequently, the EBITDA for H1 2024 rose by 66.1% compared to the same period in 2023, reaching Euro
0.6 million, with a Net Profit of Euro 390 thousand, a 65.9% increase.

Finally, reference should be made to Note 27 of this Half-Year Financial Report with regards to the customs
dispute involving FFM in 2021, as indirect representative, following the customs declaration assessments
made by the Bologna Customs Office.

Tag Bologna Srl

TAG began operations in 2008 following the completion and opening of the General Aviation Terminal and
hangar. In addition to managing the above infrastructure at Bologna airport, the company operates as a
handler in the General Aviation sector. The Parent Company acquired a 100% interest (previously 51%) in
TAG Bologna in 2018.

The company, which assigned certain staff activities to the parent under a management & staffing contract
covering the legal and personnel area, had 16 employees at June 30, 2024 (17 at December 31, 2023). On
July 9, Tag's Board of Directors adopted an Organisation, Management and Control Model pursuant to
Legislative Decree No. 231/2001, with the objective of ensuring an internal Control System that is capable
of preventing the commission of unlawful conduct and protecting the company from the administrative
liability of legal persons. On the same date, the Tag Board of Directors appointed a Supervisory Board. This
body is endowed with autonomous powers of initiative and control and is tasked with supervising the
operation of and compliance with the 231 Model, including the Ethics Code, and ensuring that it is updated.
The single-member Body consists of the Parent Company’s Internal Audit Manager. Also on the same date,
Tag established a system to handle whistleblowing, in compliance with the regulations in force. It has
adopted a Whistleblowing Policy and provided an IT platform that can handle reports with appropriate
confidentiality.

The company prepares its financial statements according to Italian GAAP. The key indicators for the period,
adjusted where necessary entirely for the purposes of preparing these consolidated financial statements as
per IAS/IFRS, are presented below.

After the slowdown in Q1, General Aviation traffic at Bologna airport reported a marked increase, thanks in
part to the various sporting events held in the April/May period (Imola GP Championship, Moto GP Mugello,
Wec Championship). Overall in H1 2024, Tag reported a slight increase in movements (8.9%) compared to
2023, alongside a 12.2% increase in tonnage, confirming the positive trend seen in recent years. In H1 2024,
passenger traffic increased by 6.9% compared to the same period in 2023.

The increase in traffic served, where growth in the sale of aircraft fuel (+14.2%) was also reported, meant
that total revenues for the period exceeded the 2023 figures by 14%. Costs also increased (15.2%) due to
higher fue!l purchase expenses and other operating costs. EBITDA amounted to Euro 0.7 million (Euro 0.6
million in H1 2023) and Net Profit for the period was Euro 351 thousand. The latter increased sharply
compared to the first half of the previous year, when a profit of Euro 87 thousand was reported. This increase
was mainly due to higher amortisation of “Concession Rights” related to the General Aviation fuel distribution
plant destined for demolition in the current year as part of “Lot 3” construction work.
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Reference should be made to the specific paragraph of the Notes to this document for information
concerning transactions undertaken during the period with subsidiaries and related parties.

4 MAIN NON-FINANCIAL RESULTS ANALYSIS

4.1 SUSTAINABILITY

fn H1 2024, the Group continued its commitment to addressing all major sustainability topics, with a number
of projects underway. The initiatives seek to monitor and reduce the negative impact of airport activities on
the surrounding environment by implementing energy efficiency actions, investing in sustainable mobility
and renewable energy, taking care of employees and the local area, and for the development of an
increasingly ESG-oriented business model and supply chain.

Key environmental sustainability measures include the ongoing construction of the 40-hectare wooded strip
north of the airport (which includes a cycle path that can be used by the community), the installation of a
photovoltaic system on the terminal roof, the installation of charging stations for electric vehicles, and the
concomitant purchase of electric company cars. For further insights into the progress of the main initiatives,
please refer to the “3.5.2 INVESTMENTS” section.

In the social arena, the airport’s work to support its employees and the local community continue. In
particular, in this period we highlight:

¢ the conclusion of the corporate values review involving AdB employees;

® the extension to 2024, signed on July 17, of the corporate welfare agreement, which provides
employees amounts to be spent on vouchers and tax-free services - depending on the regulations in
force - on the flexible benefits platform. In 2024, AdB took full responsibility for the welfare costs
that, in the past two years, had been part-financed by the Bando Conciliamo.

The Group’s commitment to promoting and enacting measures that have a positive impact on its staff and
the environment was recognised by its achievement of the AIDP 2024 Award for the MuoviAMOci project.
This is an intermodal season ticket financed initially by ministerial funds and then directly by the company,
which has enabled a 30% reduction in the environmental impact of commutes and a saving of more than 100
tonnes of CO; in 2023. The company also received Generali Italia’s Welfare Champions 2024 award for the
Equal Opportunities and Reconciliation category, recognising the numerous work-life balance, inclusion and
gender equality initiatives for employees.

Finally, the Group is engaged in the “In viaggo verso la CSRD” (“On the Road to the CSRD”) project. This is the
path to implementing the European CSRD (Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive) regulation, which
seeks to support investors, analysts, consumers and other stakeholders in assessing the sustainability
performance of EU companies, along with the related business impacts and risks. CSRD reporting is based on
the concept of double materiality and encourages organisations to disclose information on how their
business activities affect society and people, and how sustainability issues affect the company’s financial
performance. Beyond compliance, AdB’s goal is to transform and generate lasting value for all stakeholders
by raising the bar for environmental and social objectives and results day after day. With this objective in
mind, it is conducting the challenging project of implementing this new legislation, beginning with reporting
for the current financial year.
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4.2 QUALITY

H1 saw good service quality levels and high passenger satisfaction. In terms of perceived quality, satisfaction
was generally well over 90%. Satisfaction levels remained very high for terminal and toilet cleanliness,
benefitting from work on the majority of the toilet blocks carried out in 2023.

The ongoing monitoring began in 2023 by the dedicated work group continues, which monitors the indicators
and takes concrete actions where considered necessary.

Waiting times mostly improved compared to 2023. Security control waiting times slightly increased due to
the start-up of works, which will be undertaken for the entire year in the area. The Group launched a major
hiring campaign in order to maintain the service level as much as possible, increasing both security and
passenger support staff.

INDICATORS H1 2024 H1 2023
Perception of the cleaning level and functionality of toilets 99.5% 98.0%
:z;:ption of the availability of mobile phone and laptop recharging stations in common 94.3% 88.3%
Overall perception of the efficacy and accessibility of public information services 99.6% 99.8%
Perception of the clarity, comprehensibility and effectiveness of internal signage 98.4% 99.4%
Check-in waiting time 19'00” 19'26"”
Perception of passport control waiting time 08'37” 7'39”
Wait time for departing PRM passengers with reservations 07°09” 9'16"
Wait time for arriving PRM passengers with reservations 05’42 6'12"
First baggage return times 25’59” 26'59"
Last baggage return times 32'59” 33'59"”
Boarding wait time for the 1st passenger 0537”7 6'49"

The ongoing expansion and modernisation work on the Terminal, as already extensively described, combined
with the introduction of flight distribution that takes into account the status of a co-ordinated airport from
the 2024/2025 winter season onwards, will improve the airport’s service levels.
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5. REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

The main regulatory updates are reported below, while reference should be made to the 2023 Directors’
Report for those issues not subject to amendments or supplements in the period.

5.1 REGULATORY AGREEMENT AND TARIFF DYNAMIC FOR 2023-2026
On October 6, 2023, at the ENAC headquarters in Rome, the “Regulatory Agreement” between ENAC and
AdB was signed for the 2023-2026 period.

In terms of the tariffs for the four-year period 2023-2026, then, we note that on April 28, 2023, with
Resolution No. 82/2023, the Transport Regulation Authority declared compliance with the requirements in
relation to the proposed revision of airport fees prepared by AdB and approved by airport users. The
requirements set out by the Authority in that resolution were, therefore, fully enacted by the operator and,
subsequently, on July 13, 2023 the TRA adopted a final compliance resolution.

On October 25, 2023, the Annual Hearing of the Users of Bologna's "Guglielmo Marconi" Airport was held,
concerning the determination of fees for 2024.

The supervisory activity of the Italian Transport Regulation Authority (ART), under the terms of and in
accordance with paragraph 6.1.2 of the ART Model and those of ENAC concerning the approved 2024 PRM
fee were completed.

In H1 2024, Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. then put forward (receiving approval from ENAC
on August 13, 2024) a justified proposal to update (pursuant to Article 6, paragraph 3 of the CDP) the annexes
to the Regulatory Agreement for the four-year period 2023-2026. This considered the most updated traffic
forecasts and in any case is substantially in line with previous agreements. It also takes into account the
airport co-ordination beginning from the Winter Season 2024-25 and considers the updates made to the
Investment Plan based on new priorities and executive phases. The Plan also contains some new investments
that bring the value of the investments in the four-year period - previously set at around Euro 140 million -
to approximately Euro 200 million.

The proposal, which was approved by ENAC as mentioned above, is considered to best meet the needs of
the airport and its users. The reviewed, authorised reinvestment plan to 2026, accompanied by a business
plan, is fully sustainable and will be entirely financed by AdB, using its own funds and bank and European
Investment Bank (EIB) financing.

5.2 SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING: THE NEW CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING DIRECTIVE
(CSRD)

On December 16, 2022, the new CSRD - Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (EU Directive 2022/2464
of December 14, 2022) was published, which strengthens and extends the rules for corporate sustainability
reporting. The CSRD came into effect on January 5, 2023, and member states have 18 months to transpose
it. The text of the delegated decree transposing the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive, which was
subject to public consultation until March 18, 2024, was preliminarily approved by the Council of Ministers
on June 10. The legislative decree was definitely approved by the Council of Ministers on August 30, 2024.
The application for companies such as AdB, which are already obliged to prepare the NFR, is from the financial
year 2024.
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5.3 CHANGE OF STATUS FROM SCHEDULE-FACILITATED AIRPORT TO CO-ORDINATED AIRPORT
Following AdB’s request to change the airport’s status from schedule-facilitated to “co-ordinated”, on March
22, 2024 ENAC announced a change in the status of Bolognha Guglieimo Marconi Airport, classifying it as “co-
ordinated” for the purposes of slot allocation from the 2024/25 winter season (IATA Winter 2024).

6. DISPUTES

For further information on the disputes, reference should be made to Note 27 of this consolidated half-year
report.

7. MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The AdB Group’s financial performance is influenced by air traffic, which is, in turn, influenced by the
economic environment, national and international health conditions, the economic and financial situation of
individual airlines and airline alliances, as well as competition, on some routes, with alternative means of
transport.

Depending on the specific way in which they evolve, these factors can have a impact on long-term
performance, thus resulting in changes to the Group's development policies. The areas listed below may be
affected by these issues, given the pervasive and uncertain nature of the developing pandemic.

For further information on the management of financial risks, reference should be made to “Type and
management of financial risks” paragraph at Note 26 of these Financial Statements.

Risks arising from the conflicts in Ukraine and in the Middle East

The Group is exposed to the risk of a loss of traffic volumes to Eastern European countries due to the still
ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine. Therefore, negative consequences on the recovery of traffic
volumes are possible, but are already included both in the actual figures and in the forecasts related to
impairment and are not significant. Currently, the Group, in its estimates, does not expect a recovery of traffic
to/from Russia and Ukraine in the short term.

This conflict could, however, adversely affect consumer confidence, the propensity to travel and the
economic recovery in general, including outside of Eastern Europe. The conflict in Ukraine could further
exacerbate the rise in commodity prices, negatively impacting utility costs and supplies of certain materials.
Moreover, the Cyber Security risk is increased by a phase of international conflict, in particular for critical
infrastructures such as airports. The Group therefore continues to monitor developments in the conflict to
identify any additional risks and impacts on the business.

This has been compounded by the conflict in the Middle East, which exacerbates the difficulties posed by
increasing global geopolitical uncertainties.
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Risk of cyber attack on information systems and technology infrastructure

The current global landscape is now characterized by the ubiquity of information systems within
organisations. In today’s volatile geopolitical context, exacerbated by the recent conflicts in Ukraine and the
Middle East, the increasing ability of organised hackers to attack and penetrate companies’ information and
technological systems and the predisposition for increasingly aggressive and significantly rising number of
cyber attacks necessitate ever-more focus on the creation of cyber-security systems to protect the data of
both individuals and businesses.

In light of the above, the Group has implemented cyclical and ongoing actions to protect airport systems,
aiming to reduce the risk of temporary interruptions (with consequent potential disservices) and of exposure
to data theft. In addition to the constant updating of software and the installation of new antivirus systems,
ongoing activities include conducting periodic audits (according to 1SO 27001 certification) and monthly
vulnerability assessments, the execution of annual penetration tests, and the continuous training of
employees and other efforts to increase awareness of cyber-security issues. The Group also has a long-term
Cyber Security Governance Plan in place, in addition to IT continuity and disaster recovery procedures.

Risks of interruption of airport operations due to accidents, damage to aircraft and airport
equipment as a result of intense and unforeseen weather events

As a direct cause of climate change, particularly intense and unanticipated weather events (high intensity
rainfall, hailstorms, heat waves) have occurred in recent times. Some of these adverse weather events could
Cause operational problems, as well as a high risk of damage to aircraft and operational equipment/vehicles.
As a result, the Group is exposed to the risk of damage to airport infrastructure and equipment, as well as
inefficiencies and impacts on airport users, despite the fact that immediate response actions such as the
Snow Clearance Plan, weather monitoring, staff training and remote warning systems are already in place. In
2023, AdB commissioned the Mediterranean Center on Climate Change Foundation to conduct a climate
change-related risk analysis with the goal of supporting the identification of specific adaptation strategies for
the most vulnerable assets in order to make them more resilient. The results of this analysis will enable the
definition of specific climate hazard intervention priorities for the airport system and targeted adaptation
strategies in line with the most up-to-date scientific literature, and will thus provide the starting point for
subsequent economic-financial assessments.

As part of its work to combat climate change, AdB participates in ACI Europe’s Airport Carbon Accreditation
scheme, in which it achieved level 3+ (neutrality) in 2023. It recently signed the Air Transport Decarbonisation
Pact, which seeks to expedite the achievement of air transport sustainability targets with regard to the SDGs
and 2030 Agenda framework and, in summary, it continues to enact its decarbonisation plan to eliminate
fossil fuels, electrifying the company vehicle fleet, covering all electricity needs with renewable sources, and
creating a@ wooded strip to absorb residual CO,.

Risks related to a dependence on Ryanair traffic volumes

Group operations are significantly based on relations with the leading airlines at the airport and to which the
Group offers its services, including - in particular - Ryanair. Due to the large proportion of total passenger
flights at the airport operated by Ryanair, the Group is exposed to the risk that the airline may scale back or
discontinue entirely its operations at the airport. Ryanair passengers accounted for 53.7% of the airport's
total traffic volumes in H1 2024.

Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. 40

This document is a courtesy translation from Italian into English. In case of any inconsistency between the two versions, the Italian original version shall prevail,



In the wake of the successful multi-year arrangement AdB and Ryanair have consolidated the partnership,
started in 2008, with a new 6-year agreement signed in February 2023. Particularly, AdB and Ryanair have
signed an agreement, within the framework of their respective development objectives, in order to: ensure
the maintenance of an comprehensive and varied network of connections within the areas served by the
carrier and also to ensure network development in line with capacity and consistent with the infrastructure
development projects of Marconi airport. The agreement pursues overall long-term sustainability goals and
includes an incentive scheme linked to the airport's traffic development policy.

Although in the Group's opinion Bologna airport is of strategic importance to the airline, it is still possible
that Ryanair may decide to change the routes served, significantly reducing or discontinuing entirely its flights
at the airport. Any reduction or stoppage of flights by the afore-mentioned airline or the stoppage or change
to flights with other destinations with high passenger traffic volumes may negatively impact - even to a
significant degree - the Group financial statements.

Risk related to the effect of incentives on revenue margins

The Parent Company is exposed to the risk of a decrease in the margins of its Aviation Business Unit as, at
like-for-like volumes, if airlines that receive incentives experience an increase in traffic volumes which is not
offset by adequate development of traffic for those with less or no incentive, the margin would fluctuate. In
accordance with its incentive policy aimed at developing traffic and routes at the Airport, the Company pays
some airlines — including both legacy and low-cost carriers — incentives tied to passenger traffic volumes and
new routes. This policy limits incentives to levels compatible with positive margins on each airline’s
operations. However, should the passenger traffic and routes operated by airlines receiving incentives
increase as a proportion compared to the current market structure, the Company’s positive margins could
decline proportionally, with a negative impact, possibly to a material degree, on the Group's financial
performance and financial position.

Although the low-cost segment’s share of the Italian national market is significant, the Group manages this
risk by proactively developing traffic that generates an increasingly positive marginal contribution, also
considering the sharp increase in demand at Bologna airport.

Risk relating to a reduction in the margin of non-aviation revenues

The strong growth in traffic reported in 2023 and which continued in 2024, the ongoing work inside the
terminal and the consequent need to prepare emergency operating solutions to manage passenger flows,
could, in some situations, impede access to points of sale and cha nges in passenger flows. Such events would
have an impact on the revenue-generating performance of the points of sale. This comes in addition to ENAC
provisions limiting commercial spaces in favour of operational spaces.

This could see retailers potentially requesting renegotiation of sub-concession contracts and, more generally,
could reduce the profitability of the retail business, pending the completion of major investments and the
creation of significant new infrastructure capacity.

Ah
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Risks related to implementation of the Action Plan

The Parent Company invests in the airport as part of its overall management on the basis of an Action Plan
approved by the Italian Civil Aviation Authority (ENAC). The Action Plan was drafted on the basis of the
investments envisaged in the Master Plan according to a modular approach, the main driver of which is air
traffic performance. With Order No. 0100428/P dated August 11, 2022, the National Civil Aviation Authority
expressed a favourable opinion on the Investment Plan submitted by AdB for the four-year period 2023-
2026. With its Order dated August 13, 2024, the National Civil Aviation Authority expressed a favourable
opinion on the technical annex updates - chief amongst which is the Investment Plan - submitted by AdB for
the four-year period 2023-2026.

AdB could encounter difficulties in implementing the investments provided for under the Action Plan in a
timely manner due to unforeseeable events, such as delays in the process of obtaining authorisation for
and/or executing the works, delays in procurement processes for certain materials or components, with
possible adverse effects on the amount of the tariffs that may be applied and possibie penal risks of
withdrawal from or termination of the Agreement. The execution of the planned interventions could be
conditioned by the non-availability of raw materials or by sharply increasing costs. Recent international
geopolitical tensions have, in fact, led to an increase in energy prices, which have reached exceptionally high
levels and a general rise in inflation. These effects, together with uncertainty regarding the availability of raw
materials, could lead to criticality in the supply of certain materials, an increase in operating costs linked to
the functioning of airport infrastructure and an increase in the costs of carrying out certain investments.

The investment plan as remodelled from time to time, while always ensuring due and constant reporting to
ENAC, will be implemented with the financial resources that are largely already available as a result of the
EIB financing.

Risks related to the failure to guarantee user services by certain airport operators

The handling companies operating at the airport, in response to growing and intense competitive pressure
and in order to ensure the economic sustainability of their operations, in recent years placed particular
attention on containing personnel costs, as featuring a significant labour intensive component, in addition to
their efficiency, even to detriment of their quality. The difficult market conditions in which these parties
operate were thereafter further worsened by the crisis emerging with the COVID-19 outbreak which hits the
entire air sector, making already fragile operating-financial conditions even more difficult. This situation may
therefore compromise the quality and the continuity of services offered to passengers by handlers at Bologna
airport. The Parent Company is working to draw up a contingency plan aimed at and limited to ensuring the
continuity of services that are the direct responsibility of the airport manager, including where difficulties
arise among the airport operators currently providing those services, which in 2021 began with the awarding
to Tag of the H24 service and which was strengthened with the insourcing of the airside PRM service,
previously entrusted to a handler as of December 1, 2023.
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Risks concerning the regulatory framework

The Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. Group's core business involves acting as concession
holder operating under special exclusive rights to the Bologna airport grounds. Primarily for this reason, it
operates in an industry that is highly regulated at the domestic, supranational and international levels. Any
change to the regulatory framework (and in particular any changes in relations with the state, public bodies
and sector authorities, the determination of airport fees and the amount of concession fees, the airport tariff
system, the allocation of slots, environmental protection and noise pollution) may impact operations and
Company and Group results.

Risk related to the high level of intangible assets in proportion to the Group's total assets and
shareholders’ equity

With regards to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2024, as indicators of
impairment as defined by IAS 36 are not evident and considering that Group economic-financial
performances are in line with the 2024-2046 economic-financial forecast drawn up by the Board of Directors
and utilised in the impairment tests at December 31, 2023, impairment tests were not carried out as no such
indicators have emerged in terms of the Concession rights recognised at June 30, 2024.

In terms of the risk of the non-recoverability of the carrying amount of the Concession Rights recognised to
intangible assets consolidated at December 31, 2023 for Euro 225 million, as per IAS 36, the Group carried
out an impairment test on the most recent cash flow projections approved by the Board of Directors of the
Parent Company and based on assumptions considered reasonable and demonstrable, in order to present
the best estimate of the future economic conditions that the current situation of uncertainty - in particular
on the duration of the crisis - permits. The impairment test and related analyses of sensitivity concerning
assumptions characterised by greater randomness did not point to any impairment of the carrying amounts
of the concession rights recognised at December 31, 2023; therefore, no impairment losses were recognised
on the assets concerned.

Operational restrictions and other risks resulting from exceeding airport noise zoning limits

As part of the noise impact monitoring and management programme, AdB prepared the calculation of the
airport noise level (LVA) for the year 2023, according to the current regulations, from which certain excesses
of the noise limits provided by the airport noise zoning maps were detected in areas falling mainly in the
western sector of the airport featuring limited surface area and low population density. The same surveys
also verified the containment of emission levels within acoustic limits in high-density residential areas located
in the eastern sector of the airport (Navile, Pescarola and Corticella neighbourhoods).

The airport management company considers that among all measures, the proactive and positive procedures
and ordinances shared at the Noise Commission (pursuant to Article 5 of the Ministry of the Environment’s
Ministerial Decree dated 31/10/1997), designed to contain the noise impact on the densely populated areas
bordering the airport, have made it possible to contain the exceedances to limited and very low population
density areas. These measures concerned, respectively, ENAC Order No. 5/2023 of June 14, 2023, which
introduced additional operational restrictions and halved the runway operational capacity in the “night”
band, which has allowed since June 19, 2023 the drastic reduction of night overflights over the built-up area
of Bologna, and ENAV’s operational procedure of modifying the initial climb for Runway 12 takeoffs from
Bologna, which, since September 7, 2023, by bringing forward the turn altitude from 800 feet to 520 feet,
has allowed an effective shift of takeoff trajectories to areas with lower population density. Taken together,
these actions have reduced the overall population exposed to airport noise levels.
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Despite this, in relation to the excesses detected in these areas, in early June 2024, AdB began the technical
preparatory process to define the Noise Containment and Abatement Plan (“PICAR”), which will be finalised
by May 2025. The Plan will be prepared in application of the criteria under the current national and
international sector regulations, with specific reference to the adoption of the balanced approach introduced
by Reg. 598/2014. This establishes precise criteria for the introduction of operating restrictions for the
purposes of noise abatement at European Union airports. In other words, several alternative corrective
measures may be introduced before air traffic restrictions are required. AdB will allocate adequate resources
for any further investments that may arise and which should be adequately offset by tariff dynamics. It will
also inform the municipalities concerned of the actual uses of the proceeds of the IRESA purpose tax and of
the multi-year fund to support soundproofing work on the most exposed residential buildings, established in
FY 2023 (see 2023 Financial Statements).

Seasonality of revenues

Due to the cyclical nature of the sector in which the Group generally operates, higher revenues and operating
results are expected in the third quarter rather than in the first and final quarters of the year. Higher revenues
are concentrated in June-September, during the peak summer vacation period experiencing maximum usage
jevels. In addition, there is a strong business passenger component, due to the characteristics of the local
business community and the presence of internationally renowned trade fair events, which offsets the
seasonal peaks of tourist activity. Accordingly, financial performance figures for interim periods may not be
representative of the Group's financial performance and financial position situation at the annual level.

8 ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

In this Directors’ Report, various performance indicators are presented in order to permit a better
assessment of operating performance and financial position.

On December 3, 2015, Consob published Communication No. 92543/15, rendering applicable the Guidelines
issued on October 5, 2015 by the European Security and Markets Authority (ESMA) regarding the
presentation of such indicators in regulated information circulated or financial statements published on or
after July 3, 2016. These Guidelines, updating the previous CESR Recommendation (CESR/05-178b), seek to
promote the utility and transparency of alternative performance measures included in regulated information
or financial statements within the scope of application of Directive 2003/71/EC in order to improve
comparability, reliability and comprehensibility.

The criteria utilised for these indicators, in line with the above communications, are provided below:

o EBITDA: EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation) is defined by
management as the pre-tax result for the year, financial income and charges, income and charges
from equity investments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment. It therefore coincides, in this
case, with the gross operating margin. EBITDA is not identified as an accounting measure as per IFRS
and therefore should be considered as an alternative measure for the evaluation of the Group's
performance. Since calculation of this indicator is not governed by the accounting standards that
form the basis of preparation of the Group's Consolidated Financial Statements, the criterion used
to determine and measure the indicator might not be uniform with that adopted by other groups.
Accordingly, the figure in question might not be comparable with that presented by such other
groups;

o ADJUSTED REVENUES AND COSTS: total revenues net of revenues from construction services and
terminal value receivable revenues on the provision for renewal and total costs net of construction
service costs. Adjusted revenues and costs allow for the calculation of adjusted EBITDA as presented
below:

e Adjusted EBITDA: this is a measure used by the Group's management to monitor and assess the
Group's operating and financial performance. This is calculated by subtracting from EBITDA:
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o the margin calculated as the difference between the Group's construction revenues and
construction costs as the Airport's manager;

o terminal value receivable revenues on the provision for renewal, where this account is
understood to refer to the consideration — equal to the present value of the terminal value
credit — that the airport manager is entitled to be paid at the end of the concession from the
new manager for renewal work on the assets under concession that at the date concerned
have not been fully depreciated according to the regulatory accounting rules (Art. 703 of the
Navigation Code, as amended by Art. 15-quinquies, para. 1, of Decree-Law No. 148/2017,
converted, with amendments, by Law No. 172 of December 4, 2017) and

e Net Financial Debt/Net Financial Position: the composition of the Net Financial Debt/Net Financial
Position is represented in accordance with the Consob Communication of July 28, 2006 and ESMA
recommendations ESMA/2011/81 and ESMA32-382-1138 of March 4, 2021.

9 GUARANTEES PROVIDED

For details of the guarantees provided by the Group, reference should be made to Note 26 of these
consolidated half-year financial statements.

10 OPT-OUT REGIMES

On April 13, 2015 the Board of Directors of the Parent Company decided, in accordance with Article 70,
paragraph 8, and Article 71, paragraph 1-bis, of the Issuers’ Regulation, to opt out of publishing the disclosure
documents provided for in Annex 3B to the Issuers’ Regulation in the event of significant merger, spin-off,
share capital increase through conferment of assets in kind, acquisition, and sales operations.

11 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND BUSINESS OUTLOOK

No events have occurred subsequent to the end of the half year that would require changes in terms of the
presented performance or equity and financial position and that would therefore necessitate adjustments
and/or additional disclosures in the financial statements with reference to the amounts reported at June 30.

Receipt of the first tranche of EIB Financing

On August 2, 2024, the first tranche of the European Investment Bank (EIB) loan signed in December 2021
was disbursed. The first tranche totals Euro 10 million and has a term of 18 years, with a two-years grace
period, at a fixed rate of 4.051%. The loan, which is for a maximum total value of Euro 90 million, is desighed
to support the investment plan.

Dissolution of the shareholder agreement

On August 1, 2024, the Shareholder Agreement signed on August 2, 2021 between the Bologna Chamber of
Commerce, the Municipality of Bologna, the Metropolitan City of Bologna, the Region of Emilia-Romagna,
the Modena, Ferrara and Ravenna Chamber of Commerce {formerly the Ferrara Chamber of Commerce) and
the Emilia Chamber of Commerce (formerly the Reggia Emilia and Parma Chamber of Commerce) governing
certain rights and obligations in respect of the shareholder structure and corporate governance of Aeroporto
Guglieimo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. was dissolved on its expiration. The Shareholder Agreement
represented a voting syndicate (“Voting Agreement”) and a transfer restriction agreement (“Transfer
Restriction Agreement”) relevant under Article 122, paragraphs 1 and 5{(a) and (b) of the CFA.
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Approval of the Regulatory Agreement (CDP)

On August 13, 2024, the Parent Company received ENAC’s approval of a justified proposal to update
(pursuant to Article 6, paragraph 3 of the CDP signed in October 2023) the annexes to the Regulatory
Agreement for the four-year period 2023-2026. This considered the most updated traffic forecasts and in any
case is substantially in line with previous agreements. It also takes into account the airport co-ordination
beginning from the Winter Season 2024-25 and considers the updates made to the Investment Plan based
on new priorities and executive phases. The Plan also contains some new investments that bring the value
of the investments in the four-year period - previously set at around Euro 140 million - to approximately Euro
200 million,

The reviewed, authorised reinvestment plan to 2026, accompanied by a business plan, is fully sustainable
and will be entirely financed by AdB, using its own funds and bank and EIB financing.

Traffic performance

InJuly and August, Bologna airport exceeded one million passengers (1,115,299 and 1,119,370, respectively),
an increase of 4.2% on July 2023 and 5.6% on August 2023. Surpassing July 2024, August 2024 becomes the
month with the highest number of passengers in the airport’s history. Overall, in the three summer months
of June, July and August, more than 3 million people chose to fly to or from Bologna.

Passengers for the first eight months of 2024 numbered 7,274,221, up 8.4% on the same period of 2023,
while movements rose to 52,379, up by 6.3% from 2023. Air cargo transport from January to August totalled
29,998 tonnes, reflecting a 10.8% increase on 2023.

The “most flown” destinations in August were: Catania, Barcelona, Tirana, Olbia, Palermo, Madrid, Brindisi,
London Heathrow, Cagliari and Rome Fiumicino.

Handling service for “unscheduled” flights (“24H” service)

From April 1, 2021, AdB entrusted its subsidiary TAG with the handling service for “unscheduled” flights (also
known as “24H” service). This entailed the acquisition of vehicles and personnel for this activity.

On July 25, 2024, ENAC carried out its final audit for the purposes of TAG's certification in accordance with
Regulation Ed. 8 on the Certification of Ground Handling Service Providers.

On July 31, 2024 ENAC confirmed TAG's certification for class 2 only. This does not include any waiver for
higher class aircraft, and therefore denies certification for the servicing of higher-class commercial flights,
including occasional unscheduled flights in the 00-05 night-time slot, as TAG did not meet all the
requirements for class 1 certification. The restriction concerns apron activities only, while passenger
assistance at the terminal was granted.

Following the failure to obtain this certification, AdB has in the meantime entrusted the service to a full
handling operator able to perform the activity, which is, however, unlikely to be required.

Operating and Financial Performance and Business Outlook

ACI Europe’s forecasts for 2024 predict approximately 3% traffic growth on 2019 volumes, a significant
improvement on the most recent forecast published in October 2023 (approx. +1%). Global growth continues
to vary within the region, with the most positive results in Eastern European countries, which are already
well above pre-pandemic levels. Even considering the disruptive environment created by geopolitical
tensions and the cooling of the global economy, combined with the bottlenecks that persist at the supply
chain level (e.g. operational workforce strikes and pressures generated by delays in the delivery of semi-
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finished and finished products for aircraft production), opportunities for growth remain significant in terms
of (i) the robustness of traffic growth in the first two quarters of the year, (ii) the resilience of the VFR (Visiting
Friends & Relatives) segment, despite rising travel costs, and (iii) strong ongoing growth reported by Ultra
LCC (Low Cost Carriers) and FSC (Full Service Carriers), which are now increasingly close to 2019 capacity.
Medium-/long-term development also remains positive, though a slowdown in year-on-year growth is
reported as a result of two opposing factors: on the one hand, there has been a gradual return to business
travel and users are prioritising travel as a consumer choice, while on the other hand, the choice of
environmental protection policies undermine the aviation industry’s growth potential, also considering rising
fees and ever-reducing capacity (e.g. caps on traffic development). Based on the above, ACl World estimates
that passenger traffic will grow at a CAGR of 3.6% over a 30-year period. The trajectory of cargo traffic,
meanwhile, remains uncertain, though it has improved on the last two years, with a CAGR of 2.7% in the
period (Source: ACI Europe, European Airport Traffic Forecast Scenarios, May 2024. ACI World Airport Traffic
Forecasts 2023-2052, June 2024).

The Group for the first half of 2024 reports substantially positive traffic and operating-financial results. For
the second half of the year, although within the above-outlined complex environment in view of the risks
related to the continued uncertainty of the market and general economy, traffic is still expected to grow,
considering also the volumes reported for July and August, with a consequent impact on the operating-
financial performance.

The Group will continue to be engaged in overcoming the limits of the infrastructural capacity of certain sub-
systems, with various interventions at the terminal, with a view to improving the quality of service and the
travel experience of passengers, once the critical issues related to maintaining the full operation of the
infrastructure and operational processes amid the construction work have been overcome. Also in the area
of non-aviation services, construction work has begun on the new multi-story parking lot for a total of an
additional 2,200 parking spaces available to passengers. At the same time, important commitments in the
areas of innovation and sustainability continue, with concrete actions by the Group to mitigate the negative
environmental impacts of airport operations, protect natural resources, improve the quality of life and well-
being of the surrounding community, and provide safe and inclusive workplaces.

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors
(Enrico Postacchini)

Bologna, September 11, 2024
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Statement of Consolidated Financial Position

; As at
in thousands of Euro Note As at 30.06.2024 31.12.2023
Concession rights 239,206 224,716
Other intangible assets 1,999 1,480
Intangible assets 1 241,205 226,196
Land, real estate, plant and equipment 12,393 11,007
Investment property 1,617 1,617
Tangible assets 2 14,010 12,624
Shareholdings 3 244 44
Other non-current financial assets 4 17,193 16,032
Deferred tax assets 5 4,556 4,041
Other non-current assets 6 146 187
Other non-current assets 22,139 20,304
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 277,354 259,124
Inventories 802 878
Trade receivables 8 23,052 19,072
Other current assets 9 10,229 6,882
Current financial assets 10 0 5,002
Cash and cash equivalents 11 24,342 44,334
CURRENT ASSETS 58,425 76,168
TOTAL ASSETS 335,779 335,292
Note As at As at

in thousands of Euro 30.06.2024 31.12.2023

Share capital 90,314 90,314
Reserves 106,189 98,949
Profit for the period 10,770 16,706
GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 12 207,273 205,969
MINORITY INTERESTS 0 0
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 12 207,273 205,969
Employee and similar benefit provisions 13 3,264 3,317
Provision for renewal of airport infrastructure 14 13,458 12,107
Provisions for risks and charges 15 4,623 4,276
Non-current financial liabilities 16 16,439 21,399
Other non-current payables 83 77
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 37,867 41,176
Trade payables 17 27,167 26,897
Other liabilities 18 45,662 38,969
Provision for renewal of airport infrastructure 14 2,259 2,259
Provisions for risks and charges 15 731 467
Current financial liabilities 16 14,820 19,555
CURRENT LIABILITIES 90,639 88,147
TOTAL LIABILITIES 128,506 129,323
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 335,779 335,292

This document is a courtesy translation from Italian into English. In case of any inconsistency between the two versions, the Italian original version shall prevail.
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the half year  For the half year

in thousands of Euro Note il endcH
30.06.2024 30.06.2023

Revenues from aeronautical services 34,511 29,033J
Revenues from non-aeronautical services 26,779 24,145
Revenues from construction services 14,659 13,061 '
Other operating revenues and proceeds 504 705
Revenues 19 76,453 66,944 |
Consumables and goods (1,899) (1,772}_
Service costs (11,626) (11,913)
Costs for construction services (13,961) (12,439)
Leases, rentals and other costs (5,229) (4,912)
Other operating expenses (1,797) (1,897)
Personnel costs (16,880) (15,279)
Costs 20 (51,392) (48,212) |
Amortisation of concession rights (4,437) (4,101)
Amortisation of other intangible assets (432) (252)
Depreciation of tangible assets (1,105) (1,091)
Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs 21 (5,974) (S,W
Reversals of impairment losses (net write-downs) on trade and other receivables (609} (53@
Provision for renewal of airport infrastructure (1,762) (1,351)
Provisions for other risks and charges (610) (697)
Provisions for risks and charges 22 (2,981) (2,586)
Total Costs (60,347) (56,242)
Operating Profit 16,106 10,702
Financial income 23 449 435 |
Financial expenses 23 (1,337) (1,565)
Resuit before taxes 15,218 9,572
Taxes for the period 24 (4,448) (2,757
Profit (losses) for the period 10,770 6,815 |
Minority profits (losses) 0 0|
Group profits (losses) 10,770 6,815
Undiluted earnings/(loss) per share (in Euro) 0.30 0.19
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (in Euro) 0.30 0.19 |
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the half For the half
year year
in thousands of Euro
ended ended

30.06.2024 30.06.2023
Profit (loss) for the period {A) 10,770 6,815
Other profits (losses) that will be reclassified in the net result for the period 0 0
Total other profits (losses) that will be reclassified in the net result for the period {B1)

0 0
Other profits (losses) that will not be reclassified in the net resuit for the year
Actuarial profits (losses) on severance and other personnel provisions 92 21
Tax impact on actuarial profits (losses) on severance and other personnel provisions (22) (5)
Total other profits (losses) that will not be reclassified in the net result for the year (82) 70 16
Total other profits {losses), net of taxes (B1 + B2) =B 70 16
Total profits (losses), net of taxes (A + B) 10,840 6,831
of which Minority Interests 0 0
of which Group 10,840 6,831
Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bb-lz)gna S.p.A. B 51

This document is a courtesy translation from Italian into English. In case of any inconsistency between the two versions, the Itafian original version shall prevail.




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

in thousands of Euro

As at 30.06.2024 As at 30.06.2023

Core income-generating operations

Result for the period before taxes 15,218 9,572
Adjustments to items with no impact on cash and cash equivalents

- Margin from construction services (698) (622)
+ Depreciation and amortisation 5,974 5,444
+ Provisions 2,981 2,586
+ Interest expense (income) for discounting and severance provisions 580 392
+/- Interest income and financial expenses 308 738
+/- Losses/gains and other non-monetary costs/revenues (4) 125
+/- Severance provisions and other personnel costs 64 70
Cash flow generated/(absorbed) by operating activities before changes in working capital 24,423 18,305
Change in inventories 75 (38)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (4,595) (9,366)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables and current/non-current assets (4,171) (7,083)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 271 1,910
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities, various and financial 1,238 8,922
Interest paid (555} (912)
Interest collected 184 120
Taxes paid (2,978) (2,393)
Severance and other personnel provisions paid (72) (44)
Use of provisions (998) (1,055)
Cash flow generated / (absorbed) by net operating activities 12,820 8,366
Purchase tangible assets (2,508} (677)
Purchases of intangible assets/concession rights (19,194) (13,591)
Payment from sale of tangible/intangible assets 9 0
Purchase/capital increase of equity investments {200) 0
Changes in current and non-current financial assets 5,010 15,000
Cash flow generated / (absorbed) by investing activities (16,883) 732
Dividends paid (9,537) 0
Loans repaid (6,160) (4,656)
Payments of leasing capital share (232) (245)
Cash flow generated / (absorbed) by financing activities {(15,929) (4,901)
Final cash change (19,992) 4,197
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 44,334 27,868
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the period {(19,992) 4,197
Cash and cash equivalents 24,342 32,065
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Statement of changes in Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity

. Share m:nwm Other FTA >.2.:n:& Rroftt zw..mum& Group profit/(loss] Group shareholders’ Shareholders’
in thousands of Euro ; Premium Legal Reserve profits/(losses) carried ; = .

capital reserves Reserve for the period equity Equity

Reserve reserve forward

Shareholders’ Equity at 31.12.2023 90,314 25,683 9,673 85,926 (3,272) (703) (18,359) 16,706 ) 205,969 205,969
Allocation of the 2023 financial year result o 0 795 6110 0 0 9,803 ~ {16,706) 0 0|
Share capital increase [¢] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 (9,537) 0 (9,537) (9,537)
Total comprehensive profit (loss) 0 0 0 0 0 70 0 10,770 10,840 10,840
Shareholders’ Equity at 30.06.2024 90,314 25,683 10,468 92,035 (3,272) (633) (18,093) 10,770 207,273 207,273
y Share m&n...w Other FTA h.n_,:nla__ Rrofl E.emmm& Groug Group shareholders’ Shareholders’
in thousands of Euro : Premium Legal Reserve profits/(losses}) carried profit/(loss} for o i

capital reserves Reserve . equity Equity

Reserve reserve forward the period

Shareholders’ Equity at 31.12.2022 90,314 25,683 8,179 57,389 (3,272) (658) (19,435) 31,109 189,310 189,310
Allocation of the 2022 financial year result 0 0 1,494 28,537 0 0 1,076 (31,109) 0 0
Share capital increase 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total comprehensive profit (loss) 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 6,815 6,832 6,832
Shareholders’ Equity at 30.06.2023 90,314 25,683 9,673 85,926 (3,272) (642) (18,359) 6,815 196,139 196,139
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e e e ol e b e I e T R o e e o
Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. 54

This document is a courtesy translation from Italian into English. In case of any inconsistency between the two versions, the Italian original version shall prevail.



Information on Group activities

The Group operates in the airport management business. Specifically:

* Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. (hereinafter “AdB” or the “Parent Company”) is full
manager of Bologna airport under Full Management Agreement No. 98 of July 12, 2004 and
subsequent additional instruments, approved by Decree of the Ministry of Transport and
Infrastructure and the Ministry of the Economy and Finance on March 15, 2006, with a term of 40
years from December 28, 2004 and expiry in December 2046 following the extension of two years
in accordance with Law No. 77 of July 17, 2020, which converted Article 102, paragraph 1-bis of
Decree-Law No. 34 of May 19, (Relaunch Decree) in order to contain the economic effects of the
COVID-19 emergency. Its registered office is located at Via del Triumvirato 84, Bologna and it is
registered with the Bologna Companies Register.

* Fast Freight Marconi S.p.A. (hereinafter FFM) operates in the cargo and mail handling business at
Bologna airport. its registered office is located at Via del Triumvirato 84, Bologna and it is registered
with the Bologna Companies Register. It is subject to management and coordination by Aeroporto
Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A..

* TAG Bologna S.r.l. (hereinafter TAG) operates in the general aviation business as a handler and
manager of the related infrastructure at the Bologna airport. Its registered office is located at Via
del Triumvirato 84, Bologna and it is registered with the Bologna Companies Register. It is subject to
management and coordination by Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A..

Accounting standards adopted for the Preparation of the Consolidated Interim Financial
Statements as at June 30, 2024

Basis of preparation

The condensed consolidated half-year financial statements of the Group (hereafter “the condensed
consolidated half-year financial statements of the Group” or “consolidated financial statements”) were
prepared for the period ended June 30, 2024 and include the comparative figures for the year ended
December 31, 2023, limited to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the comparative figures
for the half-year January 1-June 30, 2023, limited to the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Cash Flow Statement. The consolidated financial
statements were prepared under the historic cost convention, except for any financial assets measured at
fair value through profit and loss, and any Intangible Assets comprising Energy Certificates, which were
recognised at fair value, and in accordance with the going concern principle.

For further information on risk factors, assumptions and uncertainties, please refer to the relevant
paragraph in the Directors’ Report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Euro, which is also the Group functional
currency, and all amounts are rounded to the nearest thousands of Euro, where not otherwise indicated.

The publication of the condensed consolidated half-year financial statements of Aeroporto Guglielmo
Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. and the two subsidiaries (the Group) for the first half of 2024 was approved by the
Board of Directors on September 11, 2024 and was subject to limited audit by PricewaterhouseCoopers Spa.
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Content and form of the condensed consolidated half-year financial statements

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements at June 30 were prepared as per 1AS 34 “Interim Financial
Statements” including condensed explanatory notes in accordance with the above-mentioned international
accounting standard and supplemented in order to provide greater disclosure where considered necessary.
These Consolidated Financial Statements must therefore be read together with the Consolidated Financial
Statements for the year 2023 prepared in accordance with IFRS International Accounting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

The accounting standards and policies utilised are those adopted for the preparation of the annual financia!
statements at December 31, 2023, to which reference should be made, with the exception of the new
accounting standards, amendments and interpretations which entered into force from January 1, 2024,
applied for the first time by the Group at the obligatory effective date and summarised in this document in
the paragraph “Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by the European Union
adopted by the Group”. The Group has not adopted in advance any accounting standard, interpretation or
amendment issued but not yet in effect.

Consolidation Principles

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Statement of Consolidated Financial Position, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
cash flow statement and the statement of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity.

The Group opted to prepare the statement of comprehensive income which includes, in addition to the result
for the period, also the changes to equity relating to income items which, in accordance with International
Accounting Standards, are recognised under equity.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared based on the financial statements of the company and
its subsidiaries, directly and indirectly held, approved by the respective shareholders’ meetings or executive
bodies, appropriately adjusted in line with {FRS.

The subsidiary companies are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, or from the date in which the
Group acquires control, and ceases to be consolidated at the date on which the Group no longer has control.

The following table summarises the information on the subsidiaries at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023
in terms of the Group’s direct and indirect holding.

% Held

Share capital

SUBSIDIARIES (in thousands of As at 30.06.2024  As at 31.12.2023
Euro}

Fast Freight Marconi S.p.a. Societa Unipersonale 520 100.00% 100.00%

Tag Bologna S.r.l. Societa Unipersonale 316 100.00% 100.00%

Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna S.p.A. 56

This document is a courtesy translation from Italian into English. in case of any inconsistency between the two versions, the Italian original version shall prevail,



Accounting policies

In the preparation of the condensed consolidated 2024 half-year financial statements, the same accounting
standards and policies were adopted as for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at
December 31, 2023 to which reference should be made and which provides a detailed description of those
principles and standards.

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by the European Union
adopted by the Group

As of 1 January 2024, a number of amendments to international accounting standards came into force that
did not have an impact on the Group's half-year consolidated financial statements as no significant applicable
cases occurred.

Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements: classification of liabilities as current or
non-current”.

On January 23, 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1 that seeks to clarify one of the criteria in IAS 1
for classifying a liability as non-current or the requirement that the entity must have the right to defer
settiement of the liability for at least 12 months subsequent to the reporting date. The amendment includes:

. anindication that the right to defer settlement must exist at the reporting date;

. aclarification on the fact that the classification is not influenced by management's intentions or
expectations regarding the possibility of using the right of deferral;

. aclarification on how the conditions of funding affect the classification and;

. a clarification of the requirements for the classification of liabilities that an entity intends to
settle or could settle by issuing its own equity instruments.

In addition, on October 31, 2022, the 1ASB published amendments concerning non-current liabilities subject
to conditions (covenants). Only the terms of a liability arising from a financing arrangement, which an entity
must settle by the period-end will affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.

Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease liabilities in a sale and leaseback transaction

On September 22, 2022, the IASB issued an amendment to this standard that specifies the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses to measure the lease liability arising from a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure that
the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right-of-use it retains.
The amendment seeks to improve the requirements for sale and leaseback transactions in IFRS 16 but does
not change the accounting for leases unrelated to sale and leaseback transactions.
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Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Supplementary
Information: Reverse Factoring Arrangements

On May 25, 2023, the 1ASB issued amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Supplementary Information, to clarify the characteristics of reverse factoring agreements and
requests to provide further disclosure of such agreements. The disclosure requirements included in the
amendments are intended to assist financial statement users in understanding the effects on an entity's
liabilities, cash flows, and exposure to liquidity risk of reverse factoring arrangements.

New accounting standards and amendments not yet effective and not adopted in advance by the
Group

Listed below are the other standards and interpretations that had already been issued but were not yet in
force at the date of this document:

Amendments to IAS 21 - Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

Lack of convertibility, in order to provide guidance for specifying when a currency is convertible and how to
determine the exchange rate when it is not; the changes specify when a currency is convertible into another
currency and when it is not, and how an entity estimates the spot rate when a currency is not convertible.
Furthermore, when a currency is not convertible, an entity must disclose information that allows users of its
financial statements to evaluate how the lack of convertibility of a currency affects, or is expected to affect,
its financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

This clarifies a number of problematic issues emerging from the post-implementation review of IFRS 9,
including the accounting treatment of financial assets whose returns vary upon achievement of ESG
objectives (i.e., green bonds). Specifically, the changes aim to:

- Clarify the classification of financial assets with variable returns and linked to environmental, social
and corporate governance (ESG) objectives and the criteria to be used for the SPPI test assessment;

- Determine that the date of settlement of liabilities through electronic payment systems is the date on
which the liability is settled. However, an entity is permitted to adopt an accounting policy to allow a financial
liability to be derecognised before transferring liquidity on the settlement date under certain specific
conditions.

With these amendments, the IASB has also introduced additional disclosure requirements with respect to
investments in equity instruments designated to FVOCI in particular.

The amendments will be applicable to financial statements for periods beginning January 1, 2026.
IFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”

In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, the new standard
on financial statement presentation and disclosure, with a focus on updating the income statement.

- the new key concepts introduced by IFRS 18 concern:
- the structure of the statement of profit or loss;

- the information required in the financial statements for certain economic performance measures that are
reported outside the entity's financial statements (i.e. Management-defined Performance Measures or
MPM); and
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- the general rules of aggregation and disaggregation of items to be applied to the primary financial
statements and notes in general.

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1, but many of the elements of the current framework will be retained, with limited
changes. IFRS 18 will not affect the recognition or measurement of items in the financial statements, but may
change what an entity designates as ‘operating profit or loss’ now expressly defined by the standard.

IFRS 18 will apply to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2027 and will also apply to comparative
information.

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

In May 2024, the IASB published a new accounting standard for subsidiaries: IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without
Public Accountability: Disclosures, with the aim of simplifying the preparation of the financial statements of
subsidiaries eligible for application, allowing them to apply IFRS accounting standards with reduced
disclosure requirements.

The purpose of the reduced disclosure requirements is to balance the information needs of the users of the
financial statements of eligible subsidiaries and the cost savings for the preparers of those statements.

An eligible controlled entity is an entity that, at the end of its reporting period:
- is a controlled entity;
- do not have public accountability; and

- is held by a ultimate or intermediate parent company that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use in accordance with [FRS.

An entity that elects to apply the new IFRS 19 applies the requirements of the other IFRS, with the exception
of disclosure requirements; thus, recognition, measurement or presentation requirements continue to apply
consistently with the requirements of the relevant IFRSs.

The option to adopt IFRS 19 is voluntary and revocable in the future.

Eligible subsidiaries may elect to apply IFRS 19 for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027; early
application is permitted. The approval process is currently ongoing.

Discretional evaluations and significant accounting estimates

Preparation of the financial statements requires the use of estimates and judgments that are reflected in the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures in the notes, including with regard to contingent
assets and liabilities at the reporting date. The subsequently observed actual results for the period may differ
from such estimates; estimates and assumptions are also revised and updated periodically and the effects of
any changes are immediately reflected in the financial statements. The Group based its estimates and
assumptions on information available at the preparation date of the consolidated financial statements.

The ESMA (European Securities and Markets Authority) outlined in its European Common Enforcement
Priorities on October 28, 2022 three areas (climate change, financial impacts of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine
and the general economic environment) which issuers should assess closely in preparing their financial
statements.

We summarise below management’s considerations on the aspects considered significant for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
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Impacts on estimates of factors covered by the ESMA recommendation of October 28, 2022

As required by the ESMA in the European Common Enforcement Priorities of October 28, 2022, the financial
statement impacts of risk factors related to climate change, the financial impacts of Russia's invasion of
Ukraine, and the general economic environment were considered. The factors considered to have possible
impacts on the Group'’s sector are:

- the risk of energy cost movements;

- the risk of needing unplanned investments in order to pursue the net zero carbon goal;

- the risk of changes in inflation rates and related interest rates;

- the risk of interruption of airport operations due to accidents, damage to aircraft and airport
equipment as a result of intense and unforeseen weather events;
the risk of gradual erosion of short-haul air traffic as a result of new regulations and/or changes in
individual travellers’ habits in preference of lower-impact alternatives on these routes;

- the risk of constraints on the airport's growth that could result from exceeding airport noise zoning
limits, as detailed in the Directors' Report.

a) IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements

With regard to the risk of changes in inflation rates and related interest rates, the forecasts used for the
purpose of discounting the provision for the renewal of airport infrastructure uses discount rates that
already reflect the most up-to-date estimates of future interest rate and inflation trends.

b) IFRS 9 Loans and Bonds

With regard to the risk of changes in inflation rates and related interest rates, the forecasts used for the
purposes of the impairment test on concession rights carried out in accordance with 1AS 36, the
discounting of the provision for the renewal of airport infrastructure and the receivables from Terminal
Value, uses discount rates that already reflect the most up-to-date estimates of future interest rate and
inflation trends.

c) 1AS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

The legislation introduced in response to climate change may give rise to new obligations that previously
did not exist. The Group has therefore put in place an environmental policy which outlines its compliance
with practices to contain and reduce its environmental impact, which even go beyond the legal
requirements, while also not compromising the protection of other general interests under the
concession. The full implementation of this policy, which also targets the cutting of CO2 emissions,
includes energy efficiency measures.

In view of this regulatory framework, management has assessed that these policies do not require the
recoghition of new liabilities.

It was therefore not necessary to critically review the provisions presented in the financial statements.

d) IAS 36- Impairment of Assets

Reference should be made to Note 1 - Intangible Assets.
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Significant estimates
Also in light of the above considerations, the most significant estimates were the following:

a) Impairment test
Reference should be made to Note 1 - Intangible Assets.

b) Provision for renewal of airport infrastructure

The Group provides in the Note to the paragraph “14. Provision for renewal of airport infrastructure (non-
current and current)” the breakdown of the provision for the renewal of airport infrastructure, which includes
at period-end, in accordance with the obligations assumed, accruals relating to extraordinary maintenance,
refurbishment and replacement to be undertaken at a future point in time to ensure that airport
infrastructure remains duly functional and secure. The estimate of the provision for renewal of airport
infrastructure therefore requires complex professional technical judgement, in particular in relation to the
nature of the costs to be incurred, their amount and the timing of the expected interventions.

¢) Deferred tax assets
The Group provides in the Note to the paragraph "5. Deferred tax assets" the details of deferred tax assets
and their value. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is based on forecasts of taxable income derived
from operating and financial forecasts of the Group. Tax assets are shown net of tax liabilities as they can be
offset within the same tax authority.

d} Fair value of investment property
The Group records investment property at cost. This value is maintained as approximates the fair value of
the investment properties given their particular nature (absence of a comparable active market).

e} Fair value of financial instruments

The Group provides in the Notes the fair value of the financial instruments. When the fair value of a financial
asset or financial liability may no longer be measured based on the prices on an active market, the fair value
is determined utilising various valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs
inserted in this model are recorded from observable markets, where possible, but when this is not possible,
a certain level of estimation is required to define the fair values. The estimates include considerations on
variables such as the liquidity risk, the credit risk and volatility. The changes of the assumptions on these
elements may have an impact on the fair value of the financial instrument recorded.

f) IAS 10 Subsequent events to the reporting date
The Group in the analysis of subsequent events to the reporting date analyses the conditions on which it is
necessary to make changes on the accounting data and relative disclosures, depending on whether this
concerns events occurring after the reporting date:

- to operations existing at the reporting date for which an adjustment to the financial statements is
necessary (adjusting events);

- to operations which arose after the reporting date and for which no adjustment to the financial
statements is necessary (non-adjusting events)

W
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Operating Segment information

The Aeroporto Guglielmo Marconi di Bologna Group, in application of IFRS 8, identified its operating
segments as the business areas which generate revenues and costs, whose results are periodically reviewed
by the highest decision-making level in order to evaluate the outcome of the decisions concerning the
allocation of resources and for which separate financial statements are available.

The Group operating segments as per IFRS 8 - Operating Segment are as follows:

- Aviation;
- Non-Aviation;
- Other.

The disclosure concerning operating segments for the Continuing Operations is outlined to reflect the future
organisational structure of the Group, with separate disclosure for Discontinued Operations.

In relation to the operating segments, the Group evaluates their performance based on passenger revenues,
separating those concerning the aviation sector from those concerning the non-aviation sector.

The item “Other” residually includes what is not directly attributable to the sectors identified.

in Group operations, financial income and charges and taxes are not allocated to the individual operating
segments.

The segment assets are those employed by the segment for operating activities or which may be allocated
reasonably for the carrying out of operating activities.

The segment assets presented are measured utilising the same accounting policies adopted for the
presentation of the Group consolidated financial statements.

for the half year ended for the half year " for the half year
By s P rD 30.06.2024 ended 30.06.2024 ended 30.06.2024 ef:; :2:; (r)'?ol:s -yzzazr“
Aviation Non-Aviation Other
| Revenues ' 46,969 29,484 0 76,453
Costs (39,390) (12,002) 0 (51,392)
EBITDA 7,579 17,482 0 25,061 |
Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs (3,884) (2,090) 0 (5,974)
Provisions (2,624) (357) 0 (2,981)
Operating result 1,071 15,035 0 16,106
i Financial income 0 0 449 449
Financial expenses 0 0 -1,337 (1,337)
Result before taxes 1,071 15,035 (888) 15,218
!ﬂxes for the period 0 0 (4,448) (4,448)
Profit (losses) for the period 1,071 15,035 (5,336) 10,770
Minority interest profit 0 0 0 0
Group profit (loss) 0 0 0 10,770
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for the half year ended for the half year
it 30.06.2023 ended 30.06.2023 e:‘:et: Z: E:;‘;%;; ef:e:::es S?JZ.‘QZZ
Aviation Non-Aviation il

Revenues 42,343 24,601 0 66,944
Costs (38,479) (9,733) 0 (48,212)
EBITDA 3,864 14,868 0 18,732
Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs (3,818) (1,626) 0 (5,444)
Provisions (2,079) (507) 0 (2,586)
Operating result (2,033) 12,735 0 10,702
Financial income 0 0 435 435
Financial expenses 0 0 (1,565) (1,565)
Result before taxes (2,033) 12,735 (1,130) 9,572
Taxes for the period 0 0 (2,757) (2,757)
Profit (losses) for the period (2,033) 12,735 (3,887) 6,815
Minority interest profit 0 0 0 0
Group profit (loss) {2,033) 12,735 (3,887) 6,815
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The table below presents the segment information for assets:

For the half-year for the half year ended For the half year for the half
thousands of Euro ended 30.06.2024 S ended 30.06.2024  year ended
Aviation Non-Aviation Other 30.06.2024
Non-current assets 212,264 42,995 22,095 277,354 |
Intangible assets 206,759 34,446 0 241,205
Concession rights 205,739 33,467 0 239,206
Other intangible assets 1,020 979 0 1,999
Tangible assets 5,463 8,547 0 14,010
Land, real estate, plant and equipment 5,463 6,930 0 12,393 |
Investment property 0 1,617 0 1,617
Other non-current assets 42 2 22,095 22,139
Shareholdings 0 0 244 244
Other non-current financial assets 0 0 17,193 17,193 |
Deferred tax assets 0 0 4,556 4,556
Other non-current assets 42 2 102 146
Current assets 24,526 8,028 25,871 58,425
Inventories 412 390 0 802
Trade receivables 16,423 6,629 0 23,052
Other current assets 7,691 1,009 1,529 10,229
Current financial assets o] 0 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 24,342 24,342
Total assets 236,790 51,023 47,966 335,779 |
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for the half year  for the half year ended For the half year for the half

thousands of Euro sislcdBOiprERg joucas ended 30.06.2023  year ended

Aviation Non-Aviation etk SRopsEe
Non-current assets 192,999 36,924 19,422 249,345
Intangible assets 189,472 28,211 0 217,683
Concession rights 188,702 27,508 0 216,210
Other intangible assets 770 703 0 1,473
Tangible assets 3,465 8,704 0 12,169
Land, real estate, plant and equipment 3,465 7,087 o] 10,552
Investment property 0 1,617 0 1,617
Other non-current assets 62 9 19,422 19,493
Shareholdings 0 0 119 119
Other non-current financial assets 0 0 13,579 13,579
Deferred tax assets 0 0 5,545 5,545
Other non-current assets 62 9 179 250
Current assets 26,158 7,067 63,809 97,034
Inventories 455 495 0 950
Trade receivables 15,829 5,615 0 21,444
Other current assets 9,874 957 1,402 12,233
Current financial assets 0 0 30,342 30,342
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 32,065 32,065
Total assets 219,157 43,991 83,231 346,379

Segment disclosure regarding the identified operating segments is undertaken as outlined below.

Aviation: refers to the airport’s core business. This includes aircraft landing, take-off and parking fees,
passenger boarding fees, freight fees, in addition to passenger security control fees and hand-carry and
checked baggage control fees. It includes also cargo handling, customs clearance and fuelling operations.
Finally, this segment includes all centralised infrastructure and exclusive assets: the centralised infrastructure
represents revenues received in relation to infrastructure under the exclusive operation of the airport
management company for reasons of safety, security or in view of their economic impact. Exclusive assets
concern check-in desks, the gates and spaces assigned to airport operators.

Non-Aviation: operations not directly connected to the aviation business. This include sub-concession, retail,
catering, self-hire and parking management operations, the Marconi Business Lounge and advertising.

The breakdown of revenues and costs between the Aviation and Non-Aviation SBU’s follows ENAC's
guidelines for analytic/regulatory reporting for airport management companies, in line with Article 11 decies
of Law No. 248/05 and the Ministry of Transport Guidelines of December 31, 2006.

The residual accounts excluded from regulatory reporting were subsequently allocated according to the
operating criteria.

The main differences were as follows:

- accounts not considered relevant for regulatory accounting purposes which are allocated
through a specific review of the individual cost/revenue items;
_———————_'—————.______———————————-—_———__________—__
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- revenues and costs for construction services allocated according to an analytical breakdown of
investments in the year between the two SBU'’s according to regulatory criteria;

- incentives for the development of air traffic, allocated entirely to the Aviation SBU in accordance
with the financial statement breakdown.
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COMMENTS ON THE MAIN ITEMS ON THE STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

1. Intangible assets

The following table breaks down intangible assets at June 30, 2024 (compared with December 31, 2023).

in thousands of Euro As at 30.06.2024 As at31.12.2023 Change ‘
!
Concession rights 239,206 224,716 14,490 |
Software, licences and similar rights 1,208 861 347 |
Other intangible assets 37 40 (3)
Other intangible assets in progress 754 579 175
TOTAL INTANG!BLE ASSETS 241,205 226,196 15,009
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The table below presents the changes in intangible assets for the half year ended June 30, 2024, by asset category.

31.12.2023 Changes in the period 30.06.2024
Decreases/

Increases/

in thousands of Euro Historic cost >nn:3.:_m»ma_ Book value Amortisation Disposals/ Umn_..m..w_um Historic cost >nn:3.:_mmmn Book value
amortisation Acquisiti provision amortisation
cquisitions
Write-downs

Concession rights 295,676 (70,960) 224,716 18,981 (4,437) (5) (49) 314,652 (75,446) 239,206
Software, licences and similar rights 16,331 (15,470) 861 776 (429) 0 0 17,107 (15,899) 1,208
Other intangible assets 250 (210) 40 0 (3) 0 0 250 (213) 37
Other intangible assets in progress 579 0 579 175 0 0 0 754 0 754
TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 312,836 (86,640) 226,196 19,932 (4,869) {(5) (49) 332,763 (91,558) 241,205
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In the first half of 2024, Concession rights increased Euro 18.9 million gross of amortisation in the period
(equal to the fair value of construction services provided) and the advancements of works.

The increase in Concession rights is mainly due to:

- the following investments that came into operation during the period:

O

extension of the security control area related to the work on the reconfiguration of the
Security and Passport Control Area;

new connecting corridor between the check-in area and the security control area as part of
the work to reconfigure the Schengen departure hall;

construction of PRM (Passengers with Reduced Mobility) airside electric vehicle recharging
facilities;

redevelopment of the APRON 1 phase 1;
expansion of the BHS back-up system;
expropriation for public utility of the land relating to the P4 car park;

Urbanisation works in the area for the construction of the fuel storage facility as part of the
works for the new perimeter road;

expropriation of a further 10 hectares of land for the creation of the wooded strip north of
the airport as environmental compensation.

- in addition to the following interventions in progress at June 30, 2024;

)

O

@)

new multi-storey car park in the eastern area, with preliminary works amounting to Euro 5.4
million;

actions related to Apron 3 such as the installation of new AVLs (Luminous Visual Aids) and
the construction of a new fuel facility for General Aviation flights;

further advancement of reconfiguration works at the Schengen departures lounge
upgrading of APRON 1 phase 2;
photovoltaic systems on the terminal roof;

further progress on the wooded strip and cycle path north of the airport.

Amortisation of concession rights in the year amounted to Euro 4.4 million and was applied according to the
residual duration of the concession.

Software, licenses and similar rights increased Euro 0.8 million, gross of amortisation in the period, which
mainly included software licenses.
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Test on the recoverability of assets and groups of assets

With regards to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2024, as indicators of
impairment as defined by IAS 36 are not evident and considering that Group economic-financial
performances are in line with the 2024-2046 economic-financial forecast approved by the Board of Directors
and utilised in the impairment tests of Concession Rights at December 31, 2023, which did not indicate any
impairment, no impairment tests were carried out.

2. Tangible assets

The following table breaks down tangible assets at June 30, 2024 {compared with December 31, 2023).

in thousands of Euro As at 30.06.2024 As at 31.12.2023 Change

Land 2,763 2,763 0
Buildings, light constructions and improvements 2,939 3,077 (138)
Machinery, equipment & plant 3,472 1,756 1,716 I
Furniture, EDP and transport 2,164 1,955 209
Building plant and machinery in progress and advances 794 911 (117)
Investment property 1,617 1,617 4]
O T o SN Sl s A S AR RN L T b | i) R e 0070 R, 1o 1,670
Rights-ofuseland T ag” T s T (206) |
Rights-of-use machinery, equipment and plant 110 161 (51} |
Rights-of-use furniture, EDP and transport 103 130 (27)
TOTAL RIGHTS-OF-USE TANGIBLE ASSETS . 7 I T S T
TOTAL TANGIBLE ASSETS 14,010 12,624 1,386
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The table below presents the changes in tangible assets for the half year ended June 30, 2024, by asset category.

31.12.2023 Changes in the period As at 30.06.2024
In'tiisands of Euro QMM““N.“”U“_B Book Increases/ s 4 Decrease nwhnhnﬂﬂm_”ﬂwa__ﬂ
Historic cost ferR hY = 3 Depreciation Disposals/ proviEloh Historic cost Bl Book value
provision (*) L e Write-downs provision (*)
Land 2,763 0 2,763 0 0 0 0 2,763 0 2,763
Buildings, light constructions and improvements 9,144 (6,067) 3,077 | 15 (153) 0 0 9,159 (6,220) 2,939
Machinery, equipment & plant 16,453 (14,697) 1,756 2,089 (373) (312) 312 18,230 (14,758) 3,472
Furniture, EDP and transport 12,157 (10,202) 1,955 521 (312) (27) 27 12,651 (10,487) 2,164
Assets in progress and advances 911 0 911 (117) 0 0 0 794 0 794
Investment property (*) 4,732 (3,115) 1,617 0 0 0 0 4,732 (3,115) 1,617
| ToTAl TANGIBLE ASSeTs T T 660 (34081 12079 plEney o R B38) - e S el ag32e (34,580 13,749 |
Rights-of useland T 1941 (Les7)  2s4| oY (61) (143s) 1390 " s06 T (458) 48 |
Rights-of-use machinery, equipment and plant 490 (329) 161 8 (59) 0 0 498 (388) 110
Rights-of-use furniture, EDP and transport 486 (356) 130 20 (47) 0 0 506 (403) 103
| TOTAL RIGHTS-OF-USE TANGIBLE AssETs |7 R i R A o I T E7) el 9300 < TR i N 261 |
TOTAL TANGIBLE ASSETS 49,077 (36,453) 12,624 2,536 (1,105) (1,774) 1,729 49,839 (35,829) 14,010

(*) The impairment provision relates only to the "Investment Property” jtem
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At June 30, 2024, this category gross of depreciation in period increased overall by Euro 2.5 million and mainly
concerns the purchase of:

- an X-ray machine for hand-luggage security checks and automatic roller conveyors;
- explosive trace detection devices;

- partial renewal of the vehicle fleet with electric vehicles;

- a de-icing fluid spreader

- servers and other IT equipment;

in addition to a new telephone exchange under construction as of June 30.

This category includes right-of-use assets, recognised in accordance with IFRS 16, which the Group recognises as
a lessee primarily for the long-term lease of land used for parking, employee motor vehicles, De Icer plant and
some equipment. The amount recognised at June 30, 2024 corresponds to the present value of the lease
instalments falling due, which is reflected under current and non-current financial liabilities for rights-of-use. In
the first half of the year, we highlight the termination of the lease contract for the Via della fornace (P4) car park
following the expropriation for public utility, with the disposal of the relative right-of-use.

The Investment properties item includes the total value of the real estate complex owned by the Group and
intended for investment properties. This investment was initially recorded at purchase cost, subsequently
measured at fair value, updated periodically through valuations commissioned by the parent company. In the
financial statements at December 31, 2022, on the basis of the appraisal carried out by an outside expert to
support the fair value measurement, the value of this property complex was written down. At December 31,
2023 and as of the date of preparation of these financial statements, the above assessment was confirmed as ho
indicators of impairment emerged.

3. Investments

The 